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About DIAGNOS 
 

Founded in 1998, Diagnos Inc. (« DIAGNOS » or « we ») is a publicly traded Canadian corporation with a mission of 

early detection of critical health issues through the use of its Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) tool CARA (Computer 

Assisted Retina Analysis).  CARA is a tele-ophthalmology platform that integrates with existing equipment (hardware 

and software) and processes at the point of care (POC). CARA’s Artificial Intelligence image enhancement 

algorithms make standard retinal images sharper, clearer, and easier to read. CARA is accessible securely over the 

internet, and is compatible with all recognized image formats and brands of fundus cameras. 

AI in healthcare aims at improving patient outcomes by assisting healthcare practitioners in making a better use of 

medical knowledge. Our researches show that the AI market for healthcare applications is expected to achieve rapid 

adoption globally, with a compound annual growth rate of 42 percent until 2021. By 2020, chronic conditions such as 

hypertension and diabetes are expected to be diagnosed in minutes using cognitive systems. By 2025, AI systems 

are expected to be implemented in 90 percent of the US and 60 percent of the global hospitals and insurance 

companies. 

Today DIAGNOS helps take care of more than 135,000 patients. We are using AI in more than 15 countries to help 

detect anomalies in retina due to diabetic retinopathy. We are making a difference today and we are preventing 

blindness. DIAGNOS CARA system combines the latest in advanced retinal imaging with clinical interpretation of the 

images. The painless, non-invasive procedure takes minutes to complete, and gives a visual representation of the 

status of one’s diabetes. 

The main office is located at 7005 Taschereau Blvd., suite 340, Brossard, Quebec, Canada. DIAGNOS’ shares are 

listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol ADK. More information concerning DIAGNOS is available on 

the corporate website at www.diagnos.com and the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

DIAGNOS worldwide: 

 

http://www.diagnos.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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Board of Directors 
 

 
Mr. Georges Hébert 

 

Mr. Hébert brings a wealth of experience in 

governance of public and private companies. 

He was a director at the Laurentian Bank, where 

he served for twenty years as a member of the 

Audit committee. He was also a director of Vitran 

Corp for seven years, where he served as a 

member of the Audit committee and chairman of 

the Compensation committee. He is currently 

president of Prosys-Tec Inc. and a director of 

Cubeler Inc., a private Fintech Company. 

 

Mr. André Larente 

 

Mr. Larente is the President of the Corporation. 

Mr. Larente has previously held leading 

management positions with companies such as 

Siemens, Syscan International, Newbridge 

Networks, Legent, Cognos, Tandem Computers 

and Honeywell Information Systems. 

 

Mr. Jean-Yves Thérien 

 

Mr. Thérien currently serves as Vice President of 

Business Development for Nippon Dragon 

Resources Inc., a TSX venture exchange 

company in the exploration and development 

stage and previous to that he served as a 

financial advisor at Laurentian Bank for over 13 

years. Mr. Thérien holds a Bachelor degree in 

business administration with a specialization in 

finance. Mr. Thérien is chairman of the audit 

committee. 

 

 

 

 

Dr. Reid Maclellan 

 

Dr. Maclellan is currently an Instructor of 

Surgery at Harvard Medical School and Boston 

Children’s Hospital and Chief Operating Officer 

of StHealth Capital Partners. His primary area of 

investigation is focused on vascular anomalies, 

a group of disorders that affect arteries, 

capillaries, lymphatics, or veins. Dr. Maclellan 

frequently lectures internationally and speaks at 

conferences for the American College of 

Surgeons, the Plastic Surgery Research 

Council, the American Society of Plastic 

Surgeons, and the International Society for the 

Study of Vascular Anomalies. 

 

Dr. Maclellan currently serves on the board of 

directors for five organizations, including both 

for-profit and not-for-profit. He is a member of 

the Scientific Advisory Board for Nanotronics, a 

privately-held artificial intelligence pioneer. Dr. 

Maclellan received his MD diploma from the 

University of Alabama School of Medicine. He 

then completed a general surgery internship at 

the University of Tennessee College of Medicine 

Chattanooga and a plastic surgery research 

fellowship and clinical fellowship at Boston 

Children’s Hospital. Dr. Maclellan also holds a 

Master in Medical Sciences degree in 

translational research from Harvard Medical 

School. 
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Management 
 
 

Mr. André Larente 

President 

 

Mr. Larente has been active in the information 

technology sector for many years. He has 

previously held leading management positions 

with companies such as Siemens, Syscan 

International, Newbridge Networks, Legent, 

Cognos, Tandem Computers and Honeywell 

Information Systems.  

 

Mr. Guillermo Moreno Robles 

Vice-President - 

Business Development 

 

Mr. Moreno Robles joined the Corporation in 

2014. Over the past two years, he has been a 

key asset in the development of the healthcare 

activities in Mexico and Colombia. Previously, he 

served as a sales executive for various 

organizations with activities in Mexico and 

China. 

 

 

Mr. Marc-André Massue, CPA, CA 

Vice-President - 

Finance and CFO 

 

Mr. Massue joined the team in May 2008. He 

has many years of financial and human 

resources management experience with high 

technology corporations.  

Mr. Massue received a Bachelor in Business 

Administration (BBA) from HEC Montréal, as 

well as a Diploma in Economics from the 

Université de Montréal. Mr. Massue is a member 

of the Quebec Ordre des comptables 

professionnels agréés. Mr Massue serves also 

as Secretary of the Corporation. 
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Management Discussion and Analysis 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), dated July 27, 2018, analyses the consolidated financial position of 

DIAGNOS Inc. and its subsidiaries (“DIAGNOS”, “the Corporation” or “We”) as at March 31, 2018 and for the three-month 

and year ended March 31, 2018 and should be read in conjunction with the March 31, 2018 consolidated financial 

statements and accompanying notes. The currency used is the Canadian dollar unless otherwise stated. 

 

This MD&A was approved by the Board of Directors on July 27, 2018 and takes into account information available up to the 

filing date on SEDAR.  

 

 

Description and Objective 
 
This MD&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of the Corporation’s performance during the periods 

covered by the financial statements, and of the Corporation's financial condition and future prospects. This MD&A 

complements and supplements the Corporation’s financial statements, but does not form part of the Corporation’s financial 

statements.  

 

The objective of this MD&A is to improve the Corporation's overall financial disclosures by providing a balanced discussion of 

the Corporation's financial performance and financial condition. 

 
 

Going concern assumption 
 
The March 31, 2018 consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that 

the Corporation will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its 

liabilities in the normal course of business. 

 

The Corporation’s current level of revenue is not sufficient to cover its expenses and ongoing commitments. The 

Corporation's ability to generate positive cash flows from its operating activities is dependent on achieving and maintaining 

profitable operations. Since inception, the Corporation has been able to finance its activities and operate on a going concern 

basis through issuances of common shares, stock warrants, convertible notes, convertible debentures and demand loans. 

On July 4, 2018, the Corporation closed a private placement of $800,000 through the issuance of convertible debentures and 

stock warrants. In the near term, the Corporation intends to continue seeking additional financing through the issuance of 

debt and equity instruments to meet its operating and financial obligations. While the Corporation has been successful in 

securing financing in the past, there can be no assurance it will be able to do so in the future, that such sources of funding or 

initiatives will be available on terms acceptable to the Corporation. If the Corporation is unable to obtain sufficient additional 

funding, it may be unable to continue its operations, and amounts from the sale of assets might be less than the amounts 

reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

The March 31, 2018 consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments that would be necessary if the going 

concern basis was not appropriate. Such adjustments, if required, may be material. 

 
 
Forward-looking statements 
 

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the Corporation. By their nature, these forward-

looking statements necessarily imply risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 

contemplated by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include risks associated with market 

acceptance, competitive developments, the world economic situation and other factors. Except for ongoing obligations under 

securities laws to disclose all material information to investors, we disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any 

forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 
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Non-GAAP financial measures 
 

This MD&A contains certain non-GAAP financial measures. A non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of an 

issuer's historical or future financial performance, financial position or cash flow that is not specified, defined or determined 

under the Corporation’s GAAP (as that term is defined in Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles 

and Auditing Standards) and is not presented in the Corporation’s financial statements. 

 

Non-GAAP financial measures presented in this document are: 

 

 Backlog: The backlog amount is composed of sales bookings for services not yet rendered. 

 Bookings: Booking amounts represent signed agreements for which a value can be estimated. 

 Research and development refundable tax credit provisions in proportion to research and development expenses. 

 Working capital: the working capital amount is obtained by subtracting accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other 

current liabilities from cash, non-restricted short-term investments and accounts receivable.  

 
Description of the Corporation and activities 
 

DIAGNOS has built an Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) platform called FLAIRE to provide assistance to general practitioners in 

interpreting medical imaging at the primary care facilities. The Corporation operates in Healthcare and offers image analysis 

services through Computer Assisted Retinal Analysis (CARA), a software tool, which assists health specialists in the 

detection of diabetic retinopathy. Its geographical footprint spans across fifteen countries. DIAGNOS is currently listed on the 

Toronto Venture Exchange where it trades under the stock symbol of “ADK” and the OTCQB under the symbol “DGNOF”. 

 

DIAGNOS group of entities, as at March 31, 2018, is organized as follows: 

 

DIAGNOS operates in the following sectors: 

 

Healthcare:  Image analysis services through CARA (Computer Assisted Retinal Analysis), a software tool which assists 

health specialists in the detection of diabetic retinopathy. CARA is an in-house hosted web-based application that integrates 

fundus cameras with an image processing engine over a secure internet connection. CARA has been developed by, and is 

proprietary to, DIAGNOS. 
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Natural resources:  Data mining consulting services through CARDS (Computer Aided Resource Detection System), a 

software tool used to assist exploration companies in identifying mining deposits. In combination with modern exploration 

techniques, CARDS is a useful tool intended to save both money and time by targeting priority (or prioritizing) areas for 

exploration. In addition to data mining and target generation, DIAGNOS offers project management services. CARDS has 

been developed by, and is proprietary to, DIAGNOS. 

As of May 25
th

, 2017, the Corporation operates only one segment, Healthcare, following the sale of the mining division. 

 

Healthcare (CARA) 

 

The AI market in healthcare has high growth opportunities due to rising needs of self-care and real-time monitoring. Globally, 

AI in healthcare market is driven by the ability to improve patient outcomes, increase in need for coordination between 

healthcare workforce & patients, rise in adoption of precision medicine, significant use of big data in the healthcare sector, 

and remarkable rise in venture capital investments. Key healthcare applications using AI at present include – Intelligent 

Diagnostics, Patient and Provider Data Management, Drug Discovery Process with Advanced Analytics, and Medical 

Devices and Robotics. According to Allied Market Research, the global AI in healthcare market was valued at $1,441 million 

in 2016, and is estimated to reach at $22,790 million by 2023. With its established CARA technology and worldwide 

presence, we believe DIAGNOS is well positioned to capture a sizeable portion of the AI market in healthcare. 

 

Over the next decade, artificial intelligence is expected to fundamentally transform the diagnostic imaging market where the 

focus would be towards meeting the rising demand for imaging examinations, prevent diagnostic errors, and enable 

sustained productivity increases rather than replacing the need for radiologists.  

 

As per an IBM research, medical images account for 90% of all the medical data which makes it the largest data source in 

healthcare industry. Nowadays, healthcare algorithms are created to get more accurate and quicker diagnosis. Presently 

medical imaging is helpful in tumour detection, tracking tumour development, blood flow visualization, medical interpretation 

and diabetic retinopathy.  

 

The Corporation has developed a proprietary set of algorithms and associated software platforms to assist eye specialists in 

the detection of diabetic retinopathy. According to the Canadian Diabetes Association, diabetic retinopathy is the most 

common cause of blindness in people under age 65 and the most common cause of new blindness in North America. Also 

according to the Canadian Diabetes Association, it is estimated that approximately 2 million individuals in Canada (i.e. almost 

all people with diagnosed diabetes) have some form of diabetic retinopathy. According to the World Health Organization, the 

number of people with diabetes worldwide has risen from 108 million in 1980 to 422 million in 2014. 

 

The application is named CARA, which stands for “Computer Assisted Retinal Analysis”. The Corporation’s management 

view is that this application will contribute to the increase in revenue streams based on the fact that automating the screening 

process for diabetic retinopathy will benefit the healthcare system. 

 

CARA can be deployed in many countries and has received certifications from Health Canada, the US Food and Drug 

Administration in the United States of America and CE in the European Union. 

 

The CARA suite of applications allows an eye care specialist to more clearly visualize both normal retinal landmarks (optic 

nerve, vascular system, macula, fovea), as well as pathological changes (exudates, haemorrhages, micro-aneurisms, neo-

vascularisation). Services vary from image enhancement only, to turn-key solutions including deploying imaging equipment 

on a mobile basis using the Corporation’s staff. 

 

During the period covered by this document, the Corporation has actively been developing CARDIO, a software tool being 

tested by DIAGNOS to detect patients at risk of developing cardiovascular desease. A few other healthcare-focused software 

tools are presently in the development phase, such as Sleep Apnea and Alzheimer’s disease.  
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Unchanged from the last reporting period, for the commercialization of CARA, we currently have a presence either directly or 

through resellers in North America (Canada, USA and Mexico), Africa (Algeria), Middle-East (some countries of the Gulf 

Cooperation Council) and India. We intend to continue increasing our presence in the USA.  CARA has proven its value to 

patients in these markets.  Our focus going forward is to leverage that proven ability to, (i) continue to build revenue and 

sales in emerging markets, and, (ii) to substantially grow our sales and marketing successes in the US and Canada, where 

we believe CARA offers a unique value proposition to payers and patients. The addition of a new US based board member is 

accelerating the business development efforts there. 

 

During the year, we announced a new application named CARDIO mainly used for the early detection of Hypertension 

related deseases. CARDIO is a by-product of the work we are doing in the field of stroke prevention based on the human 

vascular system. This new application is currently in clinical trial in the US, Canada, Algeria and Mexico.  

 

Net profit (loss) for the healthcare sector: 

 

Three-month period ended March 31,

2018 2017 (restated) Variance

$

Revenue 66,593                    322,979                (256,386)              

Costs of services and research and development (323,585)                 (378,710)               55,125                 

Selling and administrative (544,663)                 (787,021)               242,358               

Loss before other items (801,655)                 (842,752)               41,097                 

Interest expense (155,978)                 (448,792)               292,814               

Share of loss from an associate (418,916)                 -                        (418,916)              

Loss before income taxes (1,376,549)              (1,291,544)            (85,005)                

Income taxes (192,191)                 -                        (192,191)              

Net loss (1,184,358)              (1,291,544)            107,186               

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017 (restated) Variance

$

Revenue 1,292,821               1,803,510             (510,689)              

Costs of services and research and development (1,297,719)              (1,207,072)            (90,647)                

Selling and administrative (2,709,519)              (2,583,551)            (125,968)              

Loss before other items (2,714,417)              (1,987,113)            (727,304)              

Interest expense (827,771)                 (955,380)               127,609               

Share of loss from an associate (418,916)                 -                        (418,916)              

Loss before income taxes (3,961,104)              (2,942,493)            (1,018,611)           

Income taxes (192,191)                 -                        (192,191)              

Net loss (3,768,913)              (2,942,493)            (826,420)              

 
 

The main variances are discussed in the overall performance section of this document. 
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Natural resources (CARDS) 

 

DIAGNOS uses its proprietary software application CARDS (Computer Aided Resources Detection System) to help mineral 

exploration professionals identify areas of similarity to known areas of mineralization with a high statistical probability. In 

combination with modern exploration techniques, CARDS is a tool intended to save both money and time by generating 

priority targets for exploration. These target areas are presented in either two dimensional or three dimensional images to 

help target and prioritize exploration efforts. In addition to target generation, DIAGNOS offers project management services 

including geological consulting services. Under specific agreements, DIAGNOS is entitled to receive royalty payments arising 

from economic resource discoveries realized as a result of using CARDS. These royalties are payable in either shares, cash 

and/or in net smelter returns on revenues derived from mining operations within the limits of the properties as defined in the 

agreements. 

 

On March15
th

, 2017, the Corporation announced the sale of the assets from its mining division to Majescor Resources Inc. 

(“Majescor”). Under the terms of the agreement, Majescor issued 8,000,000 common shares of its share capital to 

DIAGNOS, at a deemed price of $0.10 per share, in payment for the acquired assets.  Additionally, Majescor will remit to 

DIAGNOS (i) 50% of any payment that Majescor receives from the royalty agreements forming part of the acquired assets, 

and (ii) 5% of revenues generated by the commercialization of the CARDS System. As of May 25
th

, 2017, the Corporation 

operates only one segment, healthcare, following the sale of the mining division. 

 

Net profit (loss) for the natural resources sector: 

 

Three-month period ended March 31,

2018 2017 (restated) Variance

$

Revenue -                          35,000                  (35,000)               

Costs of services and research and development -                          (70,753)                70,753                 

Selling and administrative -                          (34,294)                34,294                 

Loss before interest -                          (70,047)                70,047                 

Interest expense -                          -                        -                       

Net loss -                          (70,047)                70,047                 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017 (restated) Variance

$

Revenue 320,000                 586,541               (266,541)             

Costs of services and research and development (24,207)                  (463,878)              439,671              

Selling and administrative (47,964)                  (109,715)              61,751                 

Profit before interest 247,829                 12,948                  234,881              

Interest expense -                          -                        -                       

Gain on disposals of intangible assets 623,919                 -                        623,919              

Net profit 871,748                 12,948                  858,800              

 
 

The main variances are discussed in the overall performance section of this document. 
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Development of the Business 
 
The main events which contributed to the development of the business over the past year are as follows: 
 

 June 2017:  DIAGNOS received approval for trading on the OTCQB Venture market. 

 August 2017: Appointments of new chairman of the board of directors and new chief medical officer. 

 August 2017: Expansion in Saudi Arabia. 

 September 2017: Timelines on cardiovascular desease prevention test development and commercialization plans. 

 October 2017: Private placement of convertible notes for gross proceeds of $1,000,000. 

 October 2017: Expansion in Cambodia. 

 April 2018: Appointment of new director, Dr. Reid Maclellan. 

 June 2018: Partnership with the CHUM showcasing CARA. 

 June 2018: New CARA high blood risk assessment tool. 

 July 2018: Private placements of (i) convertible debentures for gross proceeds of $800,000 and (ii) common shares 

for gross proceeds of $60,000. 

 

 

Summary of quarterly results 
 

The following financial information for the eight most recently completed three-month periods is derived from the 

Corporation’s financial statements. 

 

2018 2017

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,

2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016

(restated)

$

Revenue 66,593          937,426    269,404        339,398        357,979        1,403,271   363,261     265,540      

Net income (loss) (1,041,793)   (544,360)   (834,601)      (476,411)       (1,361,591)   62,179        (941,698)   (688,435)     

Comprehensive 

income (loss)
(1,112,207)   (285,919)   (1,093,621)   (410,714)       (1,299,844)   15,274        (957,614)   (573,098)     

Comprehensive 

income (loss) per 

share

(0.01) 0.00 (0.01) 0.00 0.00 0.00 (0.01) (0.01)
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Overall performance 
 

This section provides an analysis of the Corporation’s financial performance, financial condition and resulting cash flows 

during the periods covered by this MD&A. 

 

Net results 

The comparative financial information for the comparative three-month and year ended March 31, 2018 contained in this 

section is derived from the Corporation’s financial statements. 

 

Three-month period ended Year ended

March 31, March 31,

2018 2017 (restated) 2018 2017 (restated)

$ $

Revenue 66,593                357,979          1,612,821         2,390,051       

Operating expenses 725,683              1,270,778       4,079,409         4,364,216       

Interest expense 155,978              448,792          827,771            955,380          

Share of loss from associate, including impairment 418,916              -                  418,916            -                  

Gain on disposal of the mining division -                      -                  (623,919)          -                  

1,300,577           1,719,570       4,702,177         5,319,596       

Loss before income taxes (1,233,984)          (1,361,591)      (3,089,356)       (2,929,545)      

Decrease (increase) in loss before income taxes 127,607              (159,811)          

The variations in loss before income taxes are attributable to:

Three-month Year

period ended ended

March 31, 2018

$

Decreases in revenue (291,386)          (777,230)         

Decreases in costs of services and research and development 125,879            349,024          

Decreases (increases) in selling and administrative expenses 419,216            (64,217)           

Decreases in interest expense 292,814            127,609          

Share of loss from associate (418,916)          (418,916)         

Gain on disposal of the mining division -                   623,919          

127,607            (159,811)         

 

 The overall decrease in revenue is attributable to the decrease in the number of signed agreements from the 

healthcare sector and the sale of the mining division during the quarter ended June 30th, 2017. 

 The overall decrease in costs of services and research and development is mainly due to the decrease in delivery of 

services costs attributable to the global decrease in revenues derived from CARA and the sale of the mining division 

during the quarter ended June 30
th

, 2017. 

 The increase in selling and administrative expenses, for the year ended March 31, 2018, is mainly attributable to 

increases in (i) sales commissions related to the global increase in revenue for the last two quarters of the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 2017, for which receivables as at March 31, 2017 were collected in the quarter ended June 

30
th

, 2017 and (ii) incentives paid to officers of the Corporation. 



DIAGNOS Inc. 
 

 

10 

 

 The decrease in interest expense is mainly attributable to the repayment of short-term loan during the quarter ended 

June 30
th
, 2017. 

 Share of loss from associate represents the net loss from the results of Albert Mining attributable to the Corporation. 

 Gain on disposal of intangible assets arose from the selling of the mining division during the quarter ended June 

30
th

, 2017. 

 

When evaluating its overall financial performance, the Corporation’s analysis is based on the following key performance 

indicators: 

 

 capacity to increase revenues 

 capacity to generate positive cash flows from operating activities 

 capacity to deliver results 

 capacity to innovate 

 

Capacity to increase revenues 

 

To increase its revenues, the Corporation strives to generate sales in existing and new geographic markets.  

 

Bookings, Revenues and Backlogs 

 

The Corporation’s backlog provides an indicator when forecasting its short-term revenues. The backlog is mainly composed 

of sales bookings for products and services not yet delivered or rendered as of period end. 
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The following table presents the comparative evolution of the backlog for the comparative three-month and year ended 

March 31, 2018 and is followed by an analysis of the material variances. 

 

Three-month period ended Year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018

CARA CARDS Total CARA CARDS Total

$ $

Opening backlog -                  -               -                 24,600           -              24,600          

Bookings 66,593            -               66,593          1,527,960     320,000     1,847,960    

Adjustments -                  -               -                 (259,739) -              (259,739)

Revenues (66,593) -               (66,593) (1,292,821) (320,000) (1,612,821)

Ending backlog -                  -               -                 -                 -              -                

Three-month period ended Year ended

March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017

CARA CARDS Total CARA CARDS Total

$ $

Opening backlog 91,093            28,250         119,343        310,586        78,250        388,836       

Bookings 296,577         35,000         331,577        1,590,179     536,541     2,126,720    

Amendments (40,091) (28,250) (68,341) (72,655) (28,250) (100,905)

Revenues (322,979) (35,000) (357,979) (1,803,510) (586,541) (2,390,051)

Ending backlog 24,600            -               24,600          24,600           -              24,600          

Variations for the three-month period Variations for the year

ended March 31, 2018 ended March 31, 2018

CARA CARDS Total CARA CARDS Total

$ $

Bookings (189,893) (6,750) (196,643) (249,303) (188,291) (437,594)

Revenues (256,386) (35,000) (291,386) (510,689) (266,541) (777,230)

 
 

Analysis of the material variances for the comparative three-month and year ended March 31, 2018: 

 

 The overall decreases in bookings and revenues from CARA are mainly attributable to the decrease in the number of 

customers and signed agreements during the year ended March 31, 2018. 

 The overall decreases in bookings and revenues from CARDS are attributable to the sale of the mining division during 

the quarter ended June 30
th
, 2017. 
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Net profit (loss) per sector: 

Year ended March 31, Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

Healthcare
Natural 

resources
Total Healthcare

Natural 

resources
Total

$ $

Revenue 1,292,821       320,000          1,612,821       1,803,510       586,541          2,390,051     

Costs of services and

research and development (1,297,719)      (24,207)           (1,321,926)      (1,207,072)      (463,878)         (1,670,950)    

Selling and administrative (2,709,519)      (47,964)           (2,757,483)      (2,583,551)      (109,715)         (2,693,266)    

(Loss) income before other items (2,714,417)      247,829          (2,466,588)      (1,987,113)      12,948            (1,974,165)    

Interest expense (827,771)         -                  (827,771)         (955,380)         -                  (955,380)       

Share of loss from an associate (418,916)         -                  (418,916)         -                  -                  -                

Gain on disposal of the mining division -                  623,919          623,919          -                  -                  -                

Net (loss) income before income taxes (3,961,104)      871,748          (3,089,356)      (2,942,493)      12,948            (2,929,545)    

 

 93% of revenues earned from the healthcare sector for the year ended March 31, 2018 were attributable to one 

governmental organization (March 31, 2017 - 74%). 

 

 

Geographical segments 

 

The following table presents the comparative revenues by country for the three-month and year ended March 31, 2018: 

 

Three-month period ended March 31, Year ended March 31,

2018 2017 Variance 2018 2017 Variance

$ $

Mexico -                       148,904              (148,904) 1,171,037        1,330,457        (159,420)

Canada 44,988                25,126                19,862                373,723            586,541            (212,818)

Bangladesh -                       -                       -                       5,754                -                     5,754                

India -                       (2,134) 2,134                  -                     142,809            (142,809)

Kenya -                       23,048                (23,048) -                     59,345              (59,345)

Nigeria -                       58,753                (58,753) 625                    58,753              (58,128)

United Arab Emirates 5,855                  8,200                  (2,345) 24,275              56,200              (31,925)

Colombia -                       49,759                (49,759) -                     55,781              (55,781)

Turkey -                       -                       -                       -                     47,524              (47,524)

Malaysia -                       46,956                (46,956) -                     46,956              (46,956)

Saudi Arabia 3,219                  -                       3,219                  8,301                -                     8,301                

Poland -                       -                       -                       1,985                3,060                (1,075)

United States of America 12,130                (633) 12,763                21,748              2,625                19,123              

Slovakia 401                      -                       401                      5,373                -                     5,373                

66,593 357,979 (291,386) 1,612,821        2,390,051        (777,230)

 

Mexico 

The Corporation has one place of business in Mexico City which is responsible for revenues and expenses from sales 

activities in Mexico. The revenues were derived from the healthcare sector (CARA) and are attributable to one governmental 

organization. The decrease in revenue for the year ended March 31, 2018 is mainly explained by a change in the 

government, which was outside of the Corporation’s control. Diagnos is still negotiating with the Mexican government for an 

expansion of our services in 2018-2019. 
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Canada 

The head office of the Corporation is located in Brossard, Canada and is responsible for the revenues and expenses derived 

from sales activities in Canada, the United Arab Emirates, the United States of America, Kenya, Nigeria, Turkey, Malaysia, 

Switzerland and Colombia. Essentially all of the revenues were derived from the natural resources sector (CARDS).  The 

decrease in revenue for the year ended March 31, 2018 is due to the sale of the mining division in the first quarter ended 

June 30, 2017. 

 

India, Nigeria, United Arab Emirates, Poland 

The revenues from those countries were derived from the healthcare sector (CARA) and are attributable to one global client 

with activities in the pharmaceutical industry. The decrease in revenue in those countries for the year ended March 31, 2018 

is mainly due to the non-renewal of contracts ended in the year ended March 31, 2017. 

 

Bangladesh, Saudi Arabia, United States of America, Slovakia  

The revenues from those countries were derived from the healthcare sector (CARA) and are attributable to four clients with 

activities in the primary care sector. 

 

Other countries 

The Corporation has one office in Mumbai which is responsible for revenues and expenses derived from sales in India. The 

Corporation has one place of business in Warsaw which is responsible for revenues and expenses derived from sales 

activities in Poland. 

 

Capacity to generate positive cash flows from operating activities 

 

To generate positive cash flows from its operating activities, the Corporation strives to increase sales receipts and continues 

to monitor operating costs and related disbursements. The following table contains information taken from the Corporation’s 

consolidated financial statements and details the cash flows derived from operating activities: 

 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017 Variance

$

Net loss (2,897,165) (2,929,545) 32,380

Items not affecting cash 324,955                 718,542              (393,587)

Payment of interest 650,559                 379,086              271,473               

Net change in non-cash operating working capital items (321,944) 45,014                (366,958)

Cash flows from operating activities (2,243,595) (1,786,903) (456,692)

 

The negative variance in cash flows from operating activities of $456,692 is mainly attributable to the decrease in revenues 

of $777,230 for the year ended March 31, 2018 and the non-cash gain on disposal of the mining division of $623,919 booked 

during the quarter ended June 30
th

, 2017.  
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Capacity to deliver results  

 

The Corporation’s sales agreements usually imply rendering services over a defined period of time. Consequently, sufficient 

working capital and cash liquidities are required to execute the sales agreements and to continue supporting business 

development initiatives. The Corporation’s current level of revenues is not sufficient to cover its expenses and ongoing 

commitments, thereby resulting in negative cash flows generated from operating activities. The Corporation's ability to 

generate positive cash flows from operating activities is dependent on achieving and maintaining profitable operations. Since 

inception, the Corporation has been able to finance its activities and operate on a going concern basis through issuances of 

shares, stock warrants and debt. To raise additional funds if and when required, the Corporation’s current strategy is 

expected to be, but not limited, to the issuance of common shares, convertible financial instruments and stock warrants.  

 

Based on the current level of liquidities and sales activities, the realization of assets and the discharge of its liabilities in the 

ordinary course of business remain uncertain. In order to address these uncertainties, the Corporation has implemented 

some or all of the following measures: 

 

 Continue the process of renewing contracts 

 Reduce operating cost 

 Continue to seek debt financing 

 Continue to seek equity financing  

 Continue to evaluate possible M&A opportunities 

 

Capacity to innovate 

 

To improve existing products and continue to innovate, the Corporation has in place a team of scientists dedicated to the 

development of CARA. The Corporation’s research and development activities are performed at the head office in Canada. 

The Corporation benefits from research and development (R&D) tax credits where, historically, approximately 15% of its 

overall R&D expenses are refunded by the Government of Quebec.  

 

For the comparative years ended March 31, 2018, refundable tax credit provisions in proportion to the overall R&D expenses 

represent: 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

R&D expenses ($) 760,216 1,175,265

R&D tax credit provisions ($) 99,208 101,470

R&D tax credit in proportion to R&D expenses 13% 9%

 

Based on current activities and current legislation, the R&D tax credit percentage in proportion to R&D expenses is expected 

to be approximately 12% for the foreseeable future. 
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Expenses analysis 
 

The comparative financial information on expenses, for the comparative three-month and years ended March 31, 2018, 

contained in this table is derived from the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements and is followed by an analysis of 

the material variances. 

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $

323,584               449,463          1,321,926          1,670,950          

Selling and administrative 402,099               821,315          2,757,483          2,693,266          

725,683               1,270,778       4,079,409          4,364,216          

$ % $ %

125,879               28% 349,024             21%

Selling and administrative 419,216               51% (64,217)              (2%)

545,095               43% 284,807             7%

Costs of services and research and development

Costs of services and research and development

Variations for the three-month 

period ended

Year ended

Variations for the year ended

Three-month period ended

March 31, March 31,

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018

 

Costs of services and research and development 

 

The overall decrease for the year ended March 31, 2018 is mainly due to the decrease in delivery of services costs 

attributable to the global decrease in revenues derived from CARA and the sale of the mining division during the quarter 

ending June 30
th

, 2017. 

 

Selling and administrative 

 

The increase of $64,217, or 2%, for the year ended March 31, 2018, is mainly attributable to increases in (i) sales 

commissions related to the global increase in revenue for the last two quarters of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017 for 

which receivables as at March 31, 2017 were collected in the quarter ended June 30
th
, 2017 and (ii) incentives paid to two 

officers of the Corporation. 
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Financial position analysis 
 

The comparative financial information contained in this section is derived from the Corporation’s condensed consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

As at 

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Cash and non-restricted short-term investments 150,291                       189,861                  

Accounts receivable 531,132                       786,274                  

Other current assets 108,528                       100,294                  

Non-current assets 734,296                       232,816                  

Total assets 1,524,247                    1,309,245               

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 614,972                       934,383                  

Other current liabilities 48,131                         1,718,075               

Non-current liabilities 4,497,829                    1,571,059               

Shareholders' deficiency (3,636,685) (2,914,272)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficiency 1,524,247                    1,309,245               

Working capital (deficiency) 18,320 (1,676,323)

Increase in working capital 1,694,643                    

 
The working capital varied as follows: 

 

$

Working capital at the beginning of the year (1,676,323)

Net proceeds from a private placement of convertible debentures 2,276,894      

Net proceeds from a private placement of convertible notes 994,750         

Exercise of stock warrants and stock options 373,147         

Conversion of debentures 1,140,000      

Conversion of short term loan 150,000         

Cash flows used in operating activities (2,243,595)

Repayment of short term loans (533,000)

Payment of interests (650,559)

Others 187,006 1,694,643      

Working capital at the end of the year 18,320
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Based on the current level of liquidities and sales activities, the realization of assets and the discharge of liabilities in the 

ordinary course of business remain uncertain. In order to address these uncertainties and improve its financial position, the 

Corporation is evaluating the implementation of some or all of the following measures: 

 

Liquidity risk Risk mitigation measures 

 

Funding of operating and 

financing expenses 

 

 

 Continue the process of renewing contracts 

 Reduce operating costs 

 Continue to seek debt financing 

 Continue to seek equity financing 

 Continue to evaluate possible M&A opportunities 

 

The Corporation believes that with the above measures it will be able to improve its financial position. There is, however, 

significant risk and uncertainty associated with the measures described above. 

 

 
Commitments and off-balance sheet arrangements 
 

Under the terms of an operating lease agreement in Canada, which will expire in September 2019, the Corporation is 

committed to making minimum annual lease payments of $108,324 for the duration of the lease. 

 

Under the terms of an operating lease agreement in Mexico, which will expire in June 2018, the Corporation is committed to 

making minimum annual lease payments of $31,164 for the duration of the lease. 

 

 

Share information 
 

As at March 31, 2018, the number of common shares and convertible securities outstanding is: 

 

Common shares 172,421,265              

Stock warrants 6,220,000                  

Conversion options 38,950,000                

Stock options 12,426,684                

230,017,949              
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Transactions between related parties 

The Corporation’s related parties include its subsidiaries and associate entities as well as the Corporation’s key management 
personnel. Key management personnel include directors and officers.  

Transactions with key management personnel, directors and officers are as follows: 

 

Three-month period ended Year ended

March 31, March 31,

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $

Base Salary 130,000        154,021       (16%) 512,500        559,438      (8%)

Stock based compensation 12,276          71,887         (83%) 139,928        83,972        67%

Incentives -                5,000           (100%) 150,000        40,000        275%

Sales commissions 1,001            563              78% 111,972        79,495        41%

Interest on demand loan 121               -               n/a 1,940            -              n/a

Payment of interest on demand loan (121)              -               n/a (1,940)           -              n/a

143,277        231,471       (38%) 914,400        762,905      20%

∆ ∆

 

The overall increase in stock based compensation is attributable to an increase in the number of stock options granted during 

the last 12 months. 

The increase in sales commissions is related to the global increase in revenue for the last two quarters of the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2017, for which receivables as at March 31, 2017 were collected in the quarter ended June 30
th

, 2017. 

Sales commissions become payable upon reception of payment from the customer. 

Incentives were paid to two officers of the Corporation in the form of cash bonuses. 

During the quarter ended September 30
th
, 2017, the Corporation advanced $40,000, no interest bearing, to an officer which 

will be repaid against sales commissions. 

The following table presents the outstanding balances with key management personnel. 

 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Demand loan receivable, annual interest rate of 4% 46,749                         43,500                        

Sales commissions advance, no interest 21,558                         -                             

Convertible debentures, annual nominal interest rate of 10% (30,000)                        (500,000)                    

Convertible notes, annual nominal interest rate of 10% (500,000)                      -                             
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The outstanding balances with key management personnel varied as follows: 

 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Demand loan 

receivable, annual 

interest of 4%

Sales commissions 

advance, no interest

Convertible debentures, 

annual interest of 10%

Convertible notes, 

annual interest of 

10%

$

Balance, beginning of year 43,500                          -                              (500,000)                      -                      

Capitalization of interests 3,249                            -                              -                               -                      

Loan -                                40,000                        -                               -                      

Repayment -                                (18,442)                       -                               -                      

Departure of one director -                                -                              500,000                       -                      

Private placement -                                -                              (30,000)                        (500,000)             

Balance, end of year 46,749                          21,558                        (30,000)                        (500,000)             

 

 

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

In the application of the Corporation’s significant accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates, 

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

The following are the key estimates concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial period. 

 
Going concern assumption 

The Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on completing an additional financing, achieving and 

maintaining profitable operations and other factors, all of which are outside of management’s control. Management has to 

assess the outcome of these matters when preparing the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. The Corporation’s 

current level of revenues is not sufficient to cover its expenses and ongoing commitments, resulting in the negative cash 

flows generated from operating activities. The Corporation's ability to generate positive cash flows from operating activities is 

dependent on achieving and maintaining profitable operations. The Corporation believes that it will be able to continue as a 

going concern basis through issuances of shares, stock warrants, convertible notes, convertible debentures and debt. 

Therefore, the financial statements do not reflect any adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern basis was 

not appropriate. 

 
Tax credits on research and development expenses 

The Corporation receivables include refundable tax credits on R&D expenses. Management has to make certain careful 

judgments related to the eligibility of R&D expenses with regards to the provisions of the current tax credit programs.  

 
Stock-based compensation 

Stock-based compensation involves the valuation of grants of stock options. The Corporation relies on the fair value obtained 

by applying the Black - Scholes option pricing model. This model requires making assumptions related to the risk-free 

interest rate (with a term that matches the expected life of the options), the expected stock price volatility, the expected life of 

the options and the expected dividend yield on the Corporation’s shares. Management also has to estimate the number of 

options that will eventually vest.  
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Fair value of financial instruments 

Financial instruments are presented at fair value. In the absence of active markets in the evaluation of financial assets and 

financial liabilities, the Corporation relies on evaluation techniques based on inputs that are not based on observable market 

data which could cause the actual results to differ from the estimates. 

 
Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The extend to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the probability that future taxable 

income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. In 

addition, significant judgment is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various 

tax juridictions. 

 
Recognition of deferred tax assets 

 

Management applies judgment in considering the substance of a lease agreement and wether it transfers substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the lease asset. Key factors considered include the length of the base term in 

relation to the economic life of the asset, the present value of the minimum lease payments in relation to asset’s fair value, 

and wether the corporation obtains ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term 

 

Risk management 

 
The Corporation is exposed to risks which could have an impact on its capacity to reach its strategic growth objectives. The 

Corporation strives to control and mitigate the risks through management practices that require the identification and analysis 

of the risks related to its operations.  

 

The following describes the main risks that the Corporation faces: 
 

With regards to the Corporation’s general activities: 

 

 Nature of services – The Corporation offers interpretation services based on proprietary data mining software 

applications. Data mining is mainly used to extract knowledge from a set of data. This extraction of knowledge is an 

interpretation of a given situation with the assistance of a software program. As with many software applications, the 

results have to be reviewed and validated by the customer’s staff. When rendering interpretation services to its 

customers, the Corporation mitigates the perception of risk by including disclaimer clauses and warranty limitations to 

indicate clearly the customer’s responsibility towards the results. 

 

 Intellectual Property – The market in which the Corporation competes may include new or existing entrants that own, or 

claim to own, intellectual property, and the Corporation may have to defend itself which can be time-consuming and 

costly. In some cases, DIAGNOS may be unable to protect its proprietary technology adequately against unauthorized 

third-party use or copying through reverse-engineering processes which could adversely affect its competitive position. 

Additionally, DIAGNOS may be faced with individuals and groups who have purchased intellectual property assets for 

the sole purpose of making claims of infringement and attempting to extract substantive settlements from established 

companies. 

 

 Litigation and disputes – In the normal course of its activities, the Corporation may be party to various legal proceedings 

and disputes with customers and suppliers. Legal proceedings may include undetected errors or malfunctions of the 

services and products, or claims relating to applicable securities laws. A product liability or securities class action could 

negatively impact the business because of the costs of defending the lawsuit, diversion of employees’ time and 

attention, and potential damage to our reputation. The Corporation’s insurance policy may not cover all potential claims, 

or may not be adequate to cover all costs incurred in defense of potential claims or to indemnify us for all liability that 

may be imposed. 

 

 Tax credits programs – DIAGNOS benefits from R&D tax credits where a portion of its R&D expenses are refunded 

under a specific program sponsored by the Quebec government. Amendments to this program which would reduce the 

scope of expenses eligible for refund, or its termination, will result in net increases in R&D expenses. Additionally, audits 
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by tax authorities are performed from time to time and may result in negative impacts on our financial position. 

 

 Investing activities – The Corporation accepts payment in the form of shares from customers for services rendered. 

Shares traded on a public or private market are subject to market volatility. The Corporation’s policy regarding 

investments in shares is to benefit from increases in their market value. The Corporation sells shares when there are 

clear indications that any decrease in value may be permanent. The Corporation may also sell or liquidate those 

investments to fund its operating activities. 

 

 Volatility of markets – The shares of the Corporation are traded on the TSX Venture market and, as with any shares 

traded on a public market, are subject to market volatility. 

 

 Profitability - The Corporation has not realized any profits from its operations since its inception. However, the 

Corporation has been able to operate on a continuous basis. The Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern is 

dependent on further financings and on achieving and maintaining profitable operations. 

 

 Human resources – The Corporation must attract and retain highly skilled employees and partners with software 

development and data mining knowledge to be able to stay ahead of its competitors and up to date with technology 

changes. 

 

More specifically regarding healthcare: 

 

 Market acceptance – CARA success depends upon achieving market acceptance in a changing healthcare environment. 

There can be no assurance that CARA will be accepted and that DIAGNOS will be able to respond effectively to 

changes in technology or customers' demands. 

 

 Regulatory approvals – Numerous statutes and regulations govern the manufacture and sale of medical or healthcare 

products in Canada, the United States and other countries. The process of obtaining necessary regulatory approvals can 

be lengthy, expensive, and uncertain. 

 

 Product interaction and product support – CARA is an in-house hosted web-based application that integrates fundus 

cameras from leading camera suppliers with an image processing engine over a secure connection. New camera 

products or new features of existing products may affect compatibility of CARA and may require additional development 

work or support to insure adaptability. Lack of support or termination of relationships with the leading fundus camera 

manufacturers could negatively impact the business. 

 

 Sales strategy – The Corporation marketing plan is to market services from CARA worldwide. If the Corporation is 

unable to build and support effective distribution channels, either directly or through resellers, sales could be negatively 

impacted or delayed and the Corporation may have to review its sales strategy. 

 

 Foreign market environment – International operations carry certain risks and associated costs in managing a business 

abroad, such as complications in compliance with, and unexpected changes in legal and regulatory restrictions or 

requirements, matters governing privacy of personal information, foreign currency fluctuations, difficulties in collecting 

accounts receivable, withholding taxes regulations, uncertainties of laws and enforcement relating to intellectual property 

and privacy rights and unauthorized copying of software. 

 

 Reimbursement of healthcare costs – Depending on the country’s regulations with regard to the reimbursement of 

healthcare costs by public or private organizations, services from CARA might not be approved for reimbursement or be 

subject to specific limits.   

 

 Budgets and forecasts – Sales forecasts are currently prepared, for the most part, from the appreciation and 

interpretation of the addressable screening markets for retinopathy and are not based on firm orders. Additionally, the 

Corporation is assuming that it will benefit from repetitive revenues based on the fact that patients screened for 

retinopathy need to be followed up on a regular basis. Actual results and renewal rates may differ from anticipated levels 

and any decline may negatively impact the business. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and other financial information 

relating to DIAGNOS Inc. (“the Corporation”).  These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and necessarily include amounts based on estimates and 

judgments. 

 

Our independent auditor was engaged to express a professional opinion on the consolidated financial statements. According 

to the independent auditor’s report, its audit is conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards and includes tests and other procedures, which allow the auditor to give an opinion whether the consolidated 

financial statements prepared by management are presented fairly in accordance with IFRS. 

 

The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting. The audit 

committee discusses with the independent auditor the results of their audit and its independent auditor’s report.  The audit 

committee has the responsibility to review the consolidated financial statements before their approval by the board of 

directors. 

 

Signed this July 27, 2018 by: 

 

(s) André Larente 

 
 (s) Marc-André Massue 

 

André Larente  Marc-André Massue, CPA, CA 
President  Vice-President Finance & CFO 
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Independant auditor’s report 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(amounts in Canadian dollars) 
 

As at

Note

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017 

(restated - see note 

24)

$

ASSETS

Current

Cash 150,291                189,861                   

Short-term investments 5 85,984                  84,827                     

Accounts receivable 6 531,132                786,274                   

Prepaid expenses 22,544                  15,467                     

Intangible assets held for sale 9, 25 -                        16,081                     

789,951                1,092,510                

Non-current

Investments 7 476,803                -                           

Capital assets 8 256,734                207,432                   

Intangible assets 9 759                       9,303                       

734,296                216,735                   

Total assets 1,524,247             1,309,245                

LIABILITIES

Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10 614,972                934,383                   

Deferred revenue 31,893                  8,200                       

Loans 11 -                        683,000                   

Convertible debentures 13 -                        1,017,419                

Leases 14 16,238                  9,456                       

663,103                2,652,458                

Non-current

Convertible notes 12 829,910                -                           

Convertible debentures 13 3,635,330             1,538,244                

Leases 14 32,589                  32,815                     

4,497,829             1,571,059                

Total liabilities 5,160,932             4,223,517                

Commitments 17

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY

Share capital 15 21,881,166           20,368,019              

Reserve 16 7,532,632             6,865,731                

Deficit (33,111,012)          (30,213,847)             

Investments revaluation reserve (24,573)                 (6,000)                      

Foreign exchange differences 85,102                  71,825                     

(3,636,685)            (2,914,272)               

Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficiency 1,524,247             1,309,245                

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
 
 
Approved by the Board:(signed) Georges Hébert, Chairman and André Larente, Director 
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Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss  
(amounts in Canadian dollars) 
 

Year ended March 31,

Note 2018 2017

From continuing 

operations

From 

discontinuing 

operations (Note 

25)

Total
From continuing 

operations

From 

discontinuing 

operations (Note 

25)

Total

$

Revenue 22 1,292,821           320,000              1,612,821           1,803,510           586,541              2,390,051           

Expenses

Costs of services and research and development 1,297,719           24,207                1,321,926           1,207,072           463,878              1,670,950           

Selling and administrative 2,709,519           47,964                2,757,483           2,583,551           109,715              2,693,266           

19 4,007,238           72,171                4,079,409           3,790,623           573,593              4,364,216           

Income (loss) before other items (2,714,417)          247,829              (2,466,588)          (1,987,113)          12,948                (1,974,165)          

Interest expense 19 (827,771)             -                      (827,771)             (955,380)             -                      (955,380)             

Share of loss from equity accounted investment including

an impairment loss of $233,721 7 (418,916)             -                      (418,916)             -                      -                      -                      

Gain on disposal of mining division -                      623,919              623,919              -                      -                      -                      

Income (loss) before income taxes (3,961,104)          871,748              (3,089,356)          (2,942,493)          12,948                (2,929,545)          

Income taxes 20 (192,191)             -                      (192,191)             -                      -                      -                      

Net income (loss) (3,768,913)          871,748              (2,897,165)          (2,942,493)          12,948                (2,929,545)          

Items that may be reclassified to net loss

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (18,573)               -                      (18,573)               -                      128,133              128,133              

Net change in foreign exchange translation 13,277                -                      13,277                58,680                -                      58,680                

Realized loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets -                      -                      -                      -                      (72,550)               (72,550)               

(5,296)                 -                      (5,296)                 58,680                55,583                114,263              

Comprehensive (loss) income (3,774,209)          871,748              (2,902,461)          (2,883,813)          68,531                (2,815,282)          

Basic and diluted comprehensive (loss) income per share (0.03)                   0.01                    (0.02)                   (0.02)                   0.00                    (0.02)                   

Weighted-average number of common shares 

outstanding 168,879,026       123,723,887       

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity  

(amounts in Canadian dollars) 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Note Share capital Reserve Deficit

Foreign 

exchange 

differences

Investments 

revaluation 

reserve

Total 

shareholders' 

deficiency

$

Balance, beginning of year 26 20,368,019   6,865,731      (30,213,847)  71,825              (6,000)               (2,914,272)       

Net loss -                  -                  (2,897,165)     -                    -                     (2,897,165)       

Other comprehensive loss items -                  -                  -                  13,277              (18,573)             (5,296)               

Issuance of common shares 15 1,513,147      -                  -                  -                    -                     1,513,147         

Issuance of conversion options

(net of deferred tax liability of $168,865) 12, 13, 16 -                  468,363         -                  -                    -                     468,363            

Issuance of warrants

(net of deferred tax liability of $23,326) 12, 13, 16 -                  64,696            -                  -                    -                     64,696              

Issue expenses 16 -                  (37,841)          -                  -                    -                     (37,841)             

Stock-based compensation expense 15,16 -                  171,683         -                  -                    -                     171,683            

Balance, end of year 21,881,166   7,532,632      (33,111,012)  85,102              (24,573)             (3,636,685)       

Year ended March 31, 2017

Note Share capital Reserve Deficit

Foreign 

exchange 

differences

Investments 

revaluation 

reserve

Total 

shareholders' 

deficiency

$

Balance, beginning of year 26 18,163,302   6,566,927      (27,284,302)  13,145              (61,583)             (2,602,511)       

Net loss -                  -                  (2,929,545)     -                    -                     (2,929,545)       

Other comprehensive loss -                  -                  -                  58,680              55,583              114,263            

Issuance of common shares 15 2,204,717      -                  -                  -                    -                     2,204,717         

Reversal to accretion (25,792)          (25,792)             

Issuance of conversion options 13, 16 -                  87,234            -                  -                    -                     87,234              

Issuance of warrants 11, 13, 16 -                  151,770         -                  -                    -                     151,770            

Issuance expenses 16 -                  (2,336)             -                  -                    -                     (2,336)               

Other -                  (1,544)             -                  -                    -                     (1,544)               

Stock-based compensation expense 15,16 -                  89,472            -                  -                    -                     89,472              

Balance, end of year 20,368,019   6,865,731      (30,213,847)  71,825              (6,000)               (2,914,272)       

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(amounts in Canadian dollars) 
 

Year ended March 31,

Note 2018 2017

$

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss (2,897,165)            (2,929,545)            

Items not affecting cash

Depreciation of capital assets 8 221,646                166,946                 

Amortization of intangible assets 9 8,544                     25,703                   

Deferred income taxes 20 (192,191)               -                          

Accretion on short term loans 11 -                         114,329                 

Accretion on leases 14 4,934                     993                         

Accretion on convertible notes 12 35,005                   3,838                     

Accretion on convertible debentures 13 276,967                410,328                 

Gain on settlement of debt -                         (10,000)                  

Gain on disposal of mining division 25 (623,919)               -                          

Compounded interest 13 3,370                     23,483                   

Stock-based compensation expense 15,16 171,683                89,472                   

Share of loss from equity accounted investment 7 418,916                -                          

Gain on disposal of investments 7 -                         (72,550)                  

Gain on accounts receivable payable in shares -                         (34,000)                  

(2,572,210)            (2,211,003)            

Payment of interest 650,559                379,086                 

Net change in operating working capital items (321,944)               45,014                   

(2,243,595)            (1,786,903)            

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to short-term investments (1,157)                    (1,141)                    

Proceeds from disposal of short-term investments -                         20,000                   

Proceeds from disposal of investments 7 -                         342,383                 

Additions to capital assets 8 (270,948)               (233,119)               

Additions to intangible assets 9 -                         (29,312)                  

Other 13,276                   58,680                   

(258,829)               157,491                 

Cash flows from financing activities

Issuance of common shares, net of issue expenses 15 373,147                1,500,441             

Repayment of short term loan 11 (533,000)               -                          

Issuance of loans 11 -                         444,012                 

Repayment of loans 11 -                         (350,000)               

Leases 14 22,247                   44,792                   

Lease payments 14 (20,625)                 (3,514)                    

Issuance of convertible notes, net of issue expenses 12 994,750                -                          

Repayment of convertible notes 12 -                         (130,000)               

Issuance of convertible debentures, net of issue expenses 13 2,276,894             152,480                 

Issuance of warrants, net of issue expenses 16 -                         63,133                   

Payment of interest (650,559)               (379,086)               

2,462,854             1,342,258             

Net change in cash (39,570)                 (287,154)               

 
 
(continued on next page) 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued) 
(amounts in Canadian dollars) 
 
 

Year ended March 31,

Note 2018 2017

$

Net change in cash (39,570)               (287,154)              

Cash, beginning of year 189,861              477,015               

Cash, end of year 150,291              189,861               

Non-cash transactions

 Value of payment in shares of customer receivables 274,292              85,000                  

 Payments in shares of mining division 25 640,000              -                        

 Issuance of convertible debentures 13 150,000              930,000               

 Issuance of conversion options -                       87,234                  

 Issuance of warrants 13,16 -                       84,759                  

 Conversion of debentures into common shares 13 1,140,000           704,275               

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 

(amounts in Canadian dollars) 

 
1. Going concern assumption 

 
For the year ended March 31, 2018, the Corporation is reporting a net loss of $2,897,165 and a cumulative deficit of $33,111,012 at 
the same date. The Corporation has not realized an annual profit since its inception. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Corporation will 
continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course 
of business.   

 
In order to address these uncertainties, the Corporation is evaluating the implementation of some or all of the following measures: 
 

 Continue the process of renewing contracts  

 Reduce operating costs with temporary staff lay-offs, curtail certain consulting and travel costs 

 Continue to seek debt financing (refer to note 24) 

 Continue to seek equity financing consisting of common shares and stock purchase warrants 

 Continue to evaluate possible M&A opportunities 
 
The Corporation believes that if it were to be successful in implementing some or all of the above risk mitigating measures, it will be 
able to continue as a going concern. There remains however, significant risk and uncertainty associated with implementing any of 
these measures which are dependent on a number of factors outside of the Corporation’s control. The material uncertainty cast 
significant doubt regarding the ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern basis was not 
appropriate. Such adjustments, if required, may be material. 
 
 
2. Statutes of incorporation and nature of activities 

 
DIAGNOS Inc. (“the Corporation”) is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act and the subsidiaries under the 
applicable regulations in their respective countries. The main office is located at 7005 Taschereau Blvd., Suite 340, Brossard, 
Quebec, Canada. The shares of the Corporation are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange.  
 
The Corporation provides software-based interpretation services to assist health specialists in the detection of diabetic retinopathy. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Corporation 
on July 27, 2018. 
 
 
3. Basis of consolidation, statement of compliance with IFRS and summary of accounting policies 

 
Basis of presentation 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and those of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries consist 
of entities over which the Corporation has right, or is exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries' financial statements are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Subsidiaries' year end and accounting 
policies are aligned with those adopted by the Corporation. 
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Percentage of interest in the Corporation’s subsidiaries at March 31, 2018 is as follows: 
 

Name of subsidiary Location Percentage of ownership 

DMS & Technologies Inc. Canada 100% 

8913404 Canada Inc. Canada 100% 

Diagnos (USA) Inc. United States of America 100% 

Diagnos Poland sp. Z o.o. Poland 100% 

Diagnos Internacional SA de CV Mexico 99.8% 

Diagnos Healthcare (India) Private Limited India 99.74% 

 
Inter-company transactions and balances and any unrealized revenue and expense are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Investment in associates is accounted for using the equity method. The carrying amount of the investment in associates is 
increased or decreased to recognize the Corporation’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associates, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Corporation. Unrealized gains and 
losses on transactions between the Corporation and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Corporation’s interest in those 
entities. Where unrealized losses are eliminated, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment. 
 
Summary of accounting policies 

These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
These policies have been applied throughout the year unless otherwise stated. The following is a list of the significant accounting 
policies. 
 
a) General 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and measured at historical cost, except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based 
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

 
b) Revenue recognition 

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and receivable from third parties for goods supplied to customers 
and for services rendered, net of allowances and discounts. 
 
Revenue derived from services is recognized over the period in which the services are rendered and when collection is 
reasonably assured. Any unbilled services rendered are presented under “Accounts receivable” in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. Any amount invoiced before the delivery of services or goods is presented under “Deferred 
revenue” in the consolidated statements of financial position.  
 

c) Interest 

Interest is accounted for using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortized cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 
d) Investment tax credits 

The Corporation records investment tax credits when it believes it has complied with the eligibility requirements as set out in 
the income tax legislation of Canada and its provinces and collection is reasonably assured. Refundable investment tax 
credits are presented in reduction of research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. Investment tax credits related to capital expenditures are recorded as reductions of capital assets. 
 



DIAGNOS Inc. 
 

 

32 

 

e) Capital assets and depreciation  

Capital assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, impairment losses and related tax credits.  
Historical cost includes all costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Computer equipment cost includes software that is 
integral to its functionality. 
 
Useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each year-end. Such a review takes into 
consideration the nature of the assets, their intended use and technological changes. 
 
Depreciation of capital assets is provided on parts that have homogenous lives by using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 
 Annual rates 

Office furniture and equipment 20% 

Computer and medical equipment 50% 
 
f) Intangible assets and amortization 

Intangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization, impairment losses and related tax credits.  
Historical cost includes all costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 
 
Amortization of intangible assets is provided by using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 
 Annual rates 

Mineral claims 50% 

Computer software 50% 

Residual value and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date.  
 
g) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation assesses whether there is any indication that an asset has suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any. They are allocated to the lowest level for which there are largely identifiable cash 
inflows (cash-generating units) for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
  
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
  
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 
h) Income taxes 

The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income tax.  Under this method, future income tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between financial statement values and tax 
values of assets and liabilities using enacted or substantially enacted income tax rates expected to be in effect for the period 
in which the differences are expected to reverse. To the extent that it is not probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilized, the deferred tax asset is not 
recognized. 
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i) Research and development expenses 

All expenses related to development activities, which do not meet generally accepted criteria for deferral, and research 
expenses are expensed as incurred.  Development expenses, which meet generally accepted criteria for deferral, are 
capitalized and amortized over the estimated period of benefit. For the periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements, all expenses related to development activities were expensed as incurred. 

 
j) Loss per share 

The loss per share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 
 
The diluted loss per share, which is calculated according to the treasury stock method, is equal to the basic loss per share 
due to the anti-dilution effect of the stock option plan, the warrants and conversion options. 
 

k) Stock-based compensation 

Stock-based compensation is recorded as an expense in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, 
using the fair value obtained by applying the Black - Scholes option pricing model, with a corresponding credit to reserve. 
The compensation expense is amortized according to the graded vesting method over the vesting period. Upon exercise of 
stock options, the accumulated compensation is reduced from reserve and added to share capital. 

 
l) Equity 

Share capital is recorded at the subscribed value of the shares issued.  
 

Reserve is composed of stock-based compensation, issuance of conversion options and issuance of stock warrants less 
accumulated stock-based compensation on exercise of stock options. 
 
Gains and losses related to the revaluation of certain financial instruments are included in the investments revaluation 
reserve amount. 
 
Foreign exchange differences comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of financial 
statements of the Corporation’s foreign entities into Canadian dollars. 
 
Deficit includes the losses from the current year and prior years. 
 
Costs related to the issuance of shares, stock warrants or stock options are recorded in equity, net of tax. 

 
m) Financial instruments 

The Corporation aggregates its financial instruments into classes based on their nature and characteristics. Management 
determines the classification when the instruments are initially recognized, which is normally on the date of the transaction. 
Consequently, the Corporation classified its financial assets and liabilities as follows: 
 

 Cash is classified as loans and receivables; 
 

 Short-term investments are classified as financial assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”); 
 

 Accounts receivable, except tax credits and sales taxes, are classified as loans and receivables; 
 

 Investments in entities other than subsidiaries and associates are classified as available for sale assets; 
 

 Accounts payables and accrued liabilities (except salaries and benefits and sales taxes), convertible notes and 
convertible debentures are classified as liabilities at amortized cost; 
 

Transaction costs related to financial instrument measured initially at fair value except for transaction cost related to FVTPL 
financial assets which are expensed as incurred are added to carrying value of the asset or netted against the carrying value 
of the liability.  
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Available-for-sale assets 

 
Available-for-sale assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such upon initial recognition or are 
not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in current assets when they will be realized within 12 months 
of the reporting date, otherwise they are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Financial instruments included in this category are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequently, available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value, and unrealized gains or losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive loss. 
 
However, when a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognized in other 
comprehensive loss and there is objective evidence of prolonged impairment, the cumulative loss that has been recognized 
in other comprehensive loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment even though the 
financial asset has not been derecognized. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale (other than an equity security) 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in 
profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognized in profit or loss. 
 
When the asset is sold or the impairment charge is recognized, the accumulated gains or losses in other comprehensive 
loss are reclassified to profit or loss and the reclassification is shown separately in the statement of comprehensive loss. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recorded in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
All of the financial instruments in this category meet the definition of financial assets held for trading. These financial 
instruments are held for the purpose of selling them in the short term. Derivatives are included in this category unless they 
are a designated and effective hedging instrument. The financial instruments included in this category are initially and 
subsequently recognized at fair value. Directly attributable transaction costs and changes in fair value are recognized in 
profit or loss. The instruments classified in this category are presented under current assets. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets when they will be realized within 12 months of the reporting date, 
otherwise they are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Financial instruments included in this category are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is 
objective evidence that an impairment loss on individual loans and receivables has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate 
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account or directly if the account is deemed uncollectible. When loans and receivables are deemed to be 
uncollectible after recording an allowance, they are written off against the allowance. If, in a subsequent period, the amount 
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The reversal is limited to what the amortized cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognized at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the impairment loss and the amount 
of the reversal are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Component parts of compound instruments 
 
The component parts of compound instruments (convertible notes and convertible debentures) issued by the Corporation 
are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement 
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of 
a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Corporation's own equity instruments is an equity 
instrument.  
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At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar 
non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis using the effective interest 
rate method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument's maturity date.  
 
The values of component parts classified as equity are determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from 
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognized and included in equity, net of income tax effects, 
and is not subsequently remeasured. 

 
n) Leases 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases. Finance leases are recorded as an asset and a liability at the lower of the fair 
value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Finance lease payments are apportioned between 
the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 
o) Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The 
amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
p) Foreign currency translation 

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the profit or loss and financial position of each group entity are 
expressed in Canadian dollars, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Corporation. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of the respective entity at the 
exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Foreign currency differences 
arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss. Non monetary items are not translated at year-end and are measured 
at historical, except for non monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when fair value was determined. 
 
Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end 
of the reporting period. Revenue and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless 
exchange rates fluctuated significantly or significant transactions occurred during that period, in which case the exchange 
rates at the date of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising from the translation process of net investments 
in foreign operations are recognized as foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive loss under 
investments revaluation reserve and accumulated in equity. 
 

q) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Assets and liabilities held for disposal are no longer depreciated and are presented separately in the statement of financial 
position at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. An asset is regarded as held for sale if its 
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, rather than through continuing use. For this to be 
the case, the asset must be available for immediate sale and its sale must be highly probable.  
 
A discontinued operation represents a major line of business or geographic area of operations for the Company that either 
has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale. The items in the statement of financial position related to these 
discontinued operations are presented on specific lines in the consolidated financial statements. Profit or loss items related 
to these discontinued operations are shown separately in the consolidated financial statements for all periods presented if 
they are material to the Company. 
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Changes in accounting policies not yet adopted 
 

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) made revisions as part of its continuing improvements project. Below is a 
summary of the relevant standards affected and a discussion of the amendments.  

 
a) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments  

The IASB issued IFRS 9 in November 2009 with the long-term goal of replacing IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. Several amendments have been made to this standard since that date including amendments made in 
July and August 2014 relating to the classification of financial assets and the use of a single impairment model for all 
financial instruments. 
 
These amendments, along with the adoption of the standard, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. The Corporation is currently assessing the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

b) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers with its goal to provide a single comprehensive model 
for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. This new standard will supersede current 
revenue recognition guidance in IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programs. 
 
The objective of this standard is to provide a five-step approach to revenue recognition that includes identifying contracts 
with customers, identifying performance obligations, determining transaction prices, allocating transaction prices to 
performance obligations and recognizing revenue when performance obligations are satisfied. In certain instances, transfer 
of assets that are not related to the entity’s ordinary activities will also be required to follow some of the recognition and 
measurement requirements of the new model. The standard also expands current disclosure requirements. 
 
On April 12, 2016, the IASB amended IFRS 15 to comprise clarifications of the guidance on identifying performance 
obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property and the principal versus agent assessment (gross versus net 
revenue presentation).  
 
With regards to identifying performance obligations, the amendments clarify how to determine when promises in a contract 
are ‘distinct’ goods or services and, therefore, should be accounted for separately. The amendments to licensing guidance 
clarify when revenue from a licence of intellectual property should be recognized ‘over time’ and when it should be 
recognized at a ‘point in time’. With regards to the principal versus agent assessment, the amendments clarify that the 
principal in an arrangement controls a good or service before it is transferred to a customer. 

 
This standard and related amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The 
Corporation is currently assessing the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

  
c) IFRS 16, Leases 

In January 2016, IASB issued the new standard IFRS 16 - Leases which replaces the previous standard, IAS 17 Leases, 
and related interpretations. 
 
IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a 
contract, i.e. the customer/lessee and the supplier/lessor. More specifically, IFRS 16 is requiring assessing whether a 
contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time. In such cases, leases are capitalised as “right-of-use assets” or as “property, plant and equipment”. 
Therefore, the new requirement eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for a 
lessee. 
 
The new standard is effective for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2019. The Corporation is currently assessing 
the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
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4. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
In the application of the Corporation’s significant accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates, and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates. 
 
The following are the critical accounting judgments and the key estimates concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting year, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
a) Going concern 

The Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional and immediate financing and 
on achieving and maintaining profitable operations. Management has to assess the outcome of these matters when 
preparing the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. The Corporation’s current level of operations is not sufficient 
to cover its expenses and ongoing commitments, resulting in the negative cash flows generated from its operating activities. 
The Corporation's ability to generate positive cash flows from its operating activities is dependent on achieving and 
maintaining profitable operations. Since inception, the Corporation has been able to finance its activities and operate on a 
going concern basis through issuances of shares, stock warrants, convertible notes, convertible debentures and demand 
loans. However, there is no guarantee that such financing will be available going forward (refer to note 1). 

 
b) Tax credits on research and development expenses 

The Corporation’s receivables include refundable tax credits on research and development (R&D) expenses. Management 
has to make a critical judgment related to the eligibility of R&D expenses with regards to the provisions of the current tax 
credits programs. 

 
c) Stock-based compensation 

Stock-based compensation involves the valuation of grants of stock options. The Corporation relies on the fair value 
obtained by applying the Black - Scholes option pricing model. This model requires making assumptions related to the risk-
free interest rate (with a term that matches the expected life of the options), the expected stock price volatility, the expected 
life of the options and the expected dividend yield on the Corporation’s shares. Management also has to estimate the 
number of options that will eventually vest. Management relies on past experience to make these estimates. 

 
d) Fair value of financial instruments 

Financial instruments are presented at fair value. In the absence of active markets in the evaluation of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, the Corporation relies on evaluation techniques based on inputs that are not based on observable market 
data which could cause the actual results to differ from the estimates. 

 
e) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The extend to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the probability that future taxable 
income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. In 
addition, significant judgment is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various 
tax juridictions. 

 
f) Lease 

Management applies judgment in considering the substance of a lease agreement and wether it transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the lease asset. Key factors considered include the length of the base term 
in relation to the economic life of the asset, the present value of the minimum lease payments in relation to asset’s fair 
value, and wether the Corporation obtains ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term. 
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5. Short-term investments 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Guaranteed investment certificates, bearing interest between 0.85%

and 1.75% (March 31, 2017 - 0.71% and 1.75%) and maturing between

June 13, 2018 and January 22, 2019 (March 31, 2017 -

July 22, 2017 and June 13, 2018) 85,984                           84,827                   

 
Guaranteed investment certificates are cashable without any penalties and therefore are presented as “current” in the statement of 
financial position.  
 
Guaranteed investment certificates in the amount of $80,000 (March 31, 2017 - same) are pledged as security for an account 
payable of $35,921 (March 31, 2017 - $38,603). 
 
 
6. Accounts receivable 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Customers 357,334                          576,837                

Tax credits on research and development expenses 99,541                            96,803                  

Demand loan bearing annual interest rate of 4% (Note 23) 46,749                            43,500                  

Sales commissions advance, no interest bearing (note 23) 21,558                            -                        

Sales taxes 1,146                              65,760                  

Deposits 3,089                              2,964                    

Others 1,715                              410                       

531,132                          786,274                

 
All amounts are due in the short term. The net carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 
 
As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, certain customers’ balances became past due. These receivables were mainly from 
long-standing customers who had not as of yet defaulted and had not suffered any changes in their financial condition or whose 
payments were received after year end. The aging of these accounts is as follows: 
 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

0 to 30 days 29,982                           216,828                   

31 to 60 days 27,373                           9,565                       

61 to 90 days 297,446                         306,358                   

91 days or more 2,533                             44,086                     

357,334                         576,837                   
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The allowance for doubtful accounts represents the Corporation’s estimates of incurred losses arising from the failure or inability of 
customers to make payments when due. These estimates are based on the aging of customer balances, specific credit 
circumstances and the Corporation’s historical bad debt experience. The bad debt expense is reported under “Selling and 
administrative”. During the years ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows: 
 

Year ended March 31, 

2018 2017

$

Balance, beginning of year 21,608                    -                     

Amount receivable from an associate -                          21,608               

Balance, end of year 21,608                    21,608               

 
 
7. Investments 

As at

Number of companies March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Shares of publicly traded companies 2 (March 31, 2017 - 1) 55,719                     -                        

Shares of private companies 3 (March 31, 2017 - 3) -                           -                        

Shares of associates 2 (March 31, 2017 - 1) 421,084                   -                        

476,803                   -                        

 

Investments in publicly traded companies and private companies over which the Corporation does not exercise significant influence 
are classified as available-for-sale and are measured at fair value. 
 
Shares of associates include 48 common shares, or 48% as at March 31, 2018 (March 31, 2017 – same), of SARL Diagnos 
Medical, an Algerian corporation and 10,500,000 common shares, or 16.6% as at March 31, 2018 (March 31, 2017 – nil), of Albert 
Mining Inc. (formerly Majescor Resources Inc.), a Canadian corporation. Investments in associates are initially recorded at cost and 
are subsequently adjusted to reflect the Corporation’s share in the net profit or loss of the associate and impairment loss. Despite 
the fact that the Corporation’s interest in the share capital of Albert Mining is below 20% as at March 31, 2018, the Corporation 
exercises a significant influence over Albert Mining since one Director of the Corporation sits on Albert Mining’s board of directors. 
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The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in investments: 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Balance, beginning of year 5                               -             129,250    

Addition in shares 2                               914,292     85,000      

Share of loss from associate including an impairment loss -                           (418,916)    -           

Proceeds from disposal -                           -             (342,383)  

Gain on disposal of investments -                           -             72,550      

Realized gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets -                           -             (72,550)    

Net change in value -                           (18,573)      128,133    

Balance, end of year 7                               476,803     -           

Number of 

companies as at 

March 31, 2018

 
Share of loss from associates attributed to the Corporation is detailed as follows : 
 
Albert Mining Inc.: 

Year ended

March 31, 2018

$

Revenue -                                 

Expenses (1,115,632)                     

Net loss (1,115,632)                     

Participation (%) 16.6                               

Share of loss of the associate (185,195)                        

Impairment loss to reflect the net realizable value of the associate (233,721)                        

(418,916)                        

 
 
SARL Diagnos Medical: 

 
The entity was inactive. 
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8. Capital assets 
 

The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in capital assets: 
 
 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Office furniture and 

equipments

Computer and Medical 

equipments

Leasehold 

improvements Total 

$

Cost, beginning of year 135,470                          898,465                        42,434                   1,076,369        

Additions 791                                 270,157                        -                         270,948           

Write-off (71,826)                           (66,300)                         (42,434)                  (180,560)         

Cost, end of year 64,435                            1,102,322                     -                         1,166,757        

Accumulated depreciation, 

beginning of year 126,636                          699,867                        42,434                   868,937           

Depreciation 3,430                              218,216                        -                         221,646           

Write-off (71,826)                           (66,300)                         (42,434)                  (180,560)         

Accumulated depreciation, end of 

year 58,240                            851,783                        -                         910,023           

Net carrying value at end of year 6,195                              250,539                        -                         256,734           

Year ended March 31, 2017

Office furniture and 

equipments

Computer and Medical 

equipments

Leasehold 

improvements Total 

$

Cost, beginning of year 129,843                          670,973                        42,434                   843,250           

Additions 5,627                              227,492                        -                         233,119           

Cost, end of year 135,470                          898,465                        42,434                   1,076,369        

Accumulated depreciation, 

beginning of year 121,922                          537,635                        42,434                   701,991           

Depreciation 4,714                              162,232                        -                         166,946           

Accumulated depreciation, end of 

year 126,636                          699,867                        42,434                   868,937           

Net carrying value at end of year 8,834                              198,598                        -                         207,432           
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9. Intangible assets 
 

The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in intangible assets: 
 
 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Note Mineral claims Computer software Total 

$

Cost, beginning of year 39,696                            142,856                       182,552           

Disposals 25 (39,696)                           -                               (39,696)           

Write-off -                                  (136,000)                      (136,000)         

Cost, end of year -                                  6,856                           6,856               

Accumulated amortization, beginning of year 23,615                            133,553                       157,168           

Amortization -                                  8,544                           8,544               

Disposals 25 (23,615)                           -                               (23,615)           

Write-off -                                  (136,000)                      (136,000)         

Accumulated amortization, end of year -                                  6,097                           6,097               

Net carrying value at end of year -                                  759                              759                  

Year ended March 31, 2017

Mineral claims Computer software Total 

$

Cost, beginning of year 18,255                            134,985                       153,240           

Additions 21,441                            7,871                           29,312             

Cost, end of year 39,696                            142,856                       182,552           

Accumulated amortization, beginning of year 12,139                            119,326                       131,465           

Amortization 11,476                            14,227                         25,703             

Accumulated amortization, end of year 23,615                            133,553                       157,168           

Sub total 16,081                            9,303                           25,384             

less: intangible assets held for sale (16,081)                           -                               (16,081)           

Net carrying value at end of year -                                  9,303                           9,303               
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10. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 472,364                     621,468                     

Salaries and benefits 110,791                     251,791                     

Sales taxes 31,817                        61,124                        

614,972                     934,383                     

 
 

As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, certain suppliers’ balances became past due. The aging of these payables is as follows: 
 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

0 to 30 days 436,251                      387,424                      

31 to 60 days 31,463                        158,833                      

61 to 90 days 4,650                          31,732                        

91 days or more -                               43,479                        

472,364                      621,468                      

 
 

The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in provisions: 
 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Fiscal audit Litigation Others Total provisions

$

Balance, beginning of year 14,136            19,656             147,000           180,792               

Payroll deductions at source (14,136)           -                  -                  (14,136)                

Former employees -                  -                  (97,000)           (97,000)                

Former supplier -                  -                  (50,000)           (50,000)                

Balance, end of year -                  19,656             -                  19,656                 

Year ended March 31, 2017

Fiscal audit Litigation Others Total provisions

$

Balance, beginning of year -                  -                  -                  -                       

Payroll deductions at source 14,136            -                  -                  14,136                 

Former employees -                  19,656             97,000             116,656               

Former supplier -                  -                  50,000             50,000                 

Balance, end of year 14,136            19,656             147,000           180,792               
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11. Loans 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Unsecured non-convertible loans -                                    683,000                           

 
 
During the quarter ended December 31, 2016, one loan in the amount of $150,000 was repaid in full. On April 13, 2017, the 
remaining loan of $150,000 was converted into a $150,000 secured convertible redeemable debenture as part of a private 
placement (note 13). 
 
During the quarter ended September 30, 2016, the Corporation entered into the following unsecured non-convertible loan 
agreements for an aggregate value of $200,000; 
 

 One loan for $100,000 bearing interest at an annual rate of 10%. This loan was repaid in full during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2016. 

 One loan for $100,000 bearing interest at a monthly rate of 2%. This loan was repaid in full during the quarter ended 

September 30, 2016. 
 

During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, the Corporation entered into two unsecured non-convertible loan agreements (“2017-Q1 
Loans”) for an aggregate value of $300,000. The 2017-Q1 Loans bear interest at an annual rate of 12% and mature between April 
24, 2017 and June 7, 2017. As part of the 2017-Q1 Loans, the Corporation has granted a total of 2,750,000 bonus stock warrants 
entitling the lenders to purchase 2,750,000 shares of the Corporation at a price of $0.05 and $0.06 per share for a period of twelve 
months. The fair value of the stock warrants has been established at $0.02 per warrant, or $55,988 in aggregate, using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

Expected life: 1 year Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 111.36% 

 
In March 2016, the Corporation entered into three unsecured non-convertible loan agreements (“Loans”) for an aggregate value of 
$533,000. The Loans bear interest at an annual rate of 12% and mature between March 6, 2017 and March 22, 2017. As part of 
the Loans, the Corporation has granted a total of 5,332,500 bonus stock warrants entitling lenders to purchase 5,332,500 shares of 
the Corporation at a price of $0.05 per share for a period of twelve months. The fair value of the warrants has been established at 
$0.011 per warrant, or $58,341 in aggregate, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average 
assumptions: 
 

Expected life: 1 year Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 92.15% 
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The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in the loans for the years ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017: 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Balance, beginning of year 683,000                      474,659                      

Conversion of loan into secured convertible debentures (150,000)                     -                               

Proceeds from unsecured non-convertible loans -                               500,000                      

Issuance of stock warrants -                               (55,988)                       

Accretion -                               114,329                      

Repayment (533,000)                     (350,000)                     

Balance, end of year -                               683,000                      

 
 
12. Convertible notes 
 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Number $

Unsecured convertible promissory notes 20 (March 31, 2017 - nil) 1,000,000                     -                             

Fair value discount (165,895)                       -                             

Issue expenses (4,195)                           -                             

829,910                        -                             

During the quarter ended December 31, 2017, as part of a private placement, the Corporation issued $1,000,000 worth of 
unsecured convertible and redeemable notes (each a “Q3-2018 Note”). The Q3-2018 Notes bear interest at an annual rate of 10%, 
and will mature on October 13 and 23, 2020 (the “Maturity Date”). At the sole option of the Q3-2018 Note holders, the principal 
amount of the Q3-2018 Notes may be converted at any time, in whole or in part, into common shares of the Corporation (each a 
“Share”) at a price of $0.16 per Share. Any accrued interest on the principal, at the time of conversion, will be immediately payable 
in cash. If, at any time after the first anniversary of the Q3-2018 Note and until maturity, the volume weighted average price of the 
Shares on the TSX Venture Exchange is equal to or higher than $0.28 for 20 consecutive trading days, the Q3-2018 Notes shall be 
redeemable, in whole or in part, at the sole option of the Corporation, into Shares of the Corporation at a price of $0.16 per Share. 
Any accrued interest on the principal, at time of redemption, will be immediately payable in cash. As part of the private placement, 
1,000,000 stock warrants (each a “Warrant”) were issued to the Q3-2018 Note holders entitling the holder to purchase one Share of 
the Corporation per Warrant at a price of $0.22 per Share for a period of 18 months from the date of issuance. 
 
The fair value of the Q3-2018 Notes has been established at $799,100 using the discounted cash flows valuation method with the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

 
Maturity: 3 years Nominal interest rate: 10% 

Interest payment frequency: 2 per year  Effective interest rate: 20% 
 

Of the difference of $200,900 between the nominal value of the Notes, $1,000,000, and its fair value of $799,100, an amount of 
$136,130 (net of deferred tax liability of $49,081) has been allocated to the conversion options and an amount of $11,531 (net of 
deferred tax liability of $4,158) has been allocated to the stock warrants prorated based on their respective fair values using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 
Stock warrants: 

Expected life: 18 months Risk-free interest rate: 1.67% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 96.48% 

 
Conversion options: 

Expected life: 3 years Risk-free interest rate: 1.67% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 96.48% 
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During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, in repayment of the Unsecured convertible promissory notes (each a “Note”) which 
became due for repayment between March 31 and May 2, 2016, the Corporation issued $930,000 worth of senior secured 
convertible debentures and 4,650,000 stock warrants (see note 13) and paid cash amounts of $130,000 to some of the holders of 
the Notes. 
 
The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in convertible notes for the years ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 
2017: 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Balance, beginning of year -                             1,066,162                  

Proceeds from private placement 1,000,000                  -                             

Accretion 35,005                       3,838                         

Issue expenses (4,195)                        -                             

Issuance of stock warrants (15,689)                      -                             

Issuance of conversion options (185,211)                    -                             

Issuance of convertible debentures -                             (930,000)                    

Repayment in cash -                             (130,000)                    

Gain on settlement of debt -                             (10,000)                      

Balance, end of year 829,910                     -                             

 
 
13. Convertible debentures 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Secured convertible debentures 4,140,000                    2,670,000             

Fair value discount (517,869)                      (182,446)               

Compounded interest expense 179,520                       176,150                 

Issue expenses (166,321)                      (108,041)               

3,635,330                    2,555,663             

Secured convertible debentures - short term -                                1,017,419             

Secured convertible debentures - long term 3,635,330                    1,538,244             
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During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, as part of a private placement, the Corporation issued for $2.61 million worth of senior 
secured convertible debentures (each a “Q1-2018 Debenture”). The Q1-2018 Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 10%, 
and will mature on April 13, 2020 (the “Maturity Date”). At the sole option of the Q1-2018 Debenture holders, the principal amount 
of the Q1-2018 Debentures may be converted at any time, in whole or in part, into common shares of the Corporation (each a 
“Share”) at a price of $0.15 per Share. Any accrued interest on the principal, at the time of conversion, will be immediately payable 
in cash. If, at any time after the first anniversary of the Q1-2018 Debenture and until maturity, the volume weighted average price of 
the Shares on the TSX Venture Exchange is equal to or higher than $0.27 for 20 consecutive trading days, the Q1-2018 
Debentures shall be redeemable, in whole or in part, at the sole option of the Corporation, into Shares of the Corporation at a price 
of $0.15 per Share. Any accrued interest on the principal, at time of redemption, will be immediately payable in cash. At the sole 
option of the Corporation, at any time after the first anniversary of the Q1-2018 Debenture and until maturity, it may repay all or part 
of the outstanding Q1-2018 Debentures by making a cash payment equal to the principal amount of the Q1-2018 Debentures plus 
a premium of 25% of the principal amount owing. Any accrued interest on the principal, at time of early repayment, will be 
immediately payable in cash. As part of the private placement, 5,220,000 stock warrants (each a “Warrant”) were issued to the Q1-
2018 debenture holders entitling the holder to purchase one Share of the Corporation per Warrant at a price of $0.22 per Share for 
a period of 18 months from the date of issuance. 
 
The fair value of the Q1-2018 Debentures has been established at $2,085,650 using the discounted cash flows valuation method 
with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

Maturity: 3 years Nominal interest rate: 10% 
Interest payment frequency: 2 per year   Effective interest rate: 20% 

 
Of the difference of $524,350 between the nominal value of the Debentures, $2,610,000, and its fair value of $2,085,650, an 
amount of $332,232 (net of deferred tax liability of $119,785) has been allocated to the conversion options and an amount of 
$53,165 (net of deferred tax liability of $19,168) has been allocated to the stock warrants prorated based on their respective fair 
values using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 
Stock warrants: 

Expected life: 18 months Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 101.19% 

 
Conversion options: 

Expected life: 3 years Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 101.19% 

 
During the quarter ended September 30, 2016, as part of a non-brokered private placement, the Corporation issued $190,000 
worth of senior secured convertible debentures (each a “Q2-2017 Debenture”) and 950,000 stock warrants (each a “Q2-2017 
Warrant”). The Q2-2017 Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 12%, and will mature on July 22, 2017. The Q2-2017 
Warrants entitle the holder to purchase one Common Share (“Share”) at a price of $0.06 per Share until July 22, 2017. At the sole 
option of the holders of the Q2-2017 Debentures, the principal amount of the Q2-2017 Debentures may be converted at any time 
during the 1-year term, in whole or in part, into common shares of the Corporation (each a “Share”)  at a price of $0.06 per common 
share. Any accrued interest on the principal, at time of conversion, is immediately payable in cash. 
 
On May 3 and May 18, 2016, as part of a non-brokered private placement, the Corporation issued $930,000 worth of senior 
secured convertible debentures (each a “Q1-2017 Debenture”) and 4,650,000 stock warrants (each a “Q1-2017 Warrant”). The Q1-
2017 Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 12%, and will mature on May 3, 2017. The Q1-2017 Warrants entitle the holder 
to purchase one Common Share (“Share”) at a price of $0.06 per Share until May 3, 2017. At the sole option of the holders of the 
Q1-2017 Debentures, the principal amount of the Q1-2017 Debentures may be converted at any time during the 1-year term, in 
whole or in part, into common shares of the Corporation (“Share”) at a price of $0.06 per common share. Any accrued interest on 
the principal, at time of conversion, is immediately payable in cash. During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, all of the remaining 
Q1-2017 Debentures were converted into common shares of the Corporation. 
 
There were no cash proceeds as the Q1-2017 Debentures and Q1-2017 Warrants were issued solely in settlement of outstanding 
debt pertaining to Unsecured Convertible and Redeemable Promissory Notes, bearing interest at 10%, with a conversion and 
redemption price of $0.16, issued between March 31, 2014 and May 2, 2014. 
 
The fair value of the Q1-2017 and Q2-2017 Debentures has been established at $966,567 resulting from the difference between 
their nominal values of $1,120,000 and the fair value of the conversion options of $59,195 and the fair value of the warrants of 
$94,238 net of issue expenses.  
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On July 29 and August 7, 2015, as part of a private placement, the Corporation issued $2.29 million of senior secured convert ible 
debentures (each a “Debenture”). The Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 10%, and will mature on July 29, 2019 (the 
“Maturity Date”). Interest on the Debentures is calculated from their date of issue and will be paid quarterly in arrears beg inning 
October 29, 2016. Interest for the first year will be paid at the Maturity Date and will be compounded annually. At the sole option of 
the Debenture holders, the principal amount of the Debentures may be converted at any time, in whole or in part, into common 
shares of the Corporation (“Common Shares”) at a price of $0.10 per Common Share. Any accrued interest on the principal, at the 
time of conversion, will be immediately payable in cash. 
 
The fair value of the Debentures has been established at $1,743,550 using the discounted cash flows valuation method with the 
following weighted average assumptions: 
 

Maturity: 4 years Nominal interest rate: 10% 
Interest payment frequency: 4 per year   Effective interest rate: 20.03% 

 
The fair value of the conversion options has been established at $546,450 resulting from the difference between the nominal value 
of the Debentures, $2,290,000 and its fair value of $1,743,550.  
 
The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in convertible debentures for the years ended March 31, 2018 and March 
31, 2017: 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Balance, beginning of year 2,555,663                    1,889,847                    

Proceeds from private placement 2,460,000                    190,000                       

Conversion of convertible notes -                                930,000                       

Conversion of loan 150,000                       -                                

Fair value discount -                                (181,472)                      

Conversion into common shares (1,140,000)                  (704,275)                      

Accretion 276,967                       436,121                       

Compounded interest 3,370                            23,483                         

Issue expenses (146,320)                      (28,041)                        

Issuance of stock warrants (72,333)                        -                                

Issuance of conversion options (452,017)                      -                                

Balance, end of year 3,635,330                    2,555,663                    
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14. Leases 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Finance leases 55,307                           49,567                          

Lease fair value discount (6,480)                            (7,296)                           

48,827                           42,271                          

Finance leases - short term 16,238                           9,456                            

Finance leases - long term 32,589                           32,815                          

 

 
During the quarter ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation entered into one finance lease agreement for the purchase of 
computer equipment. The minimum monthly payment amount to $732 for a term of 36 months ending in December 2020. The fair 
value of the lease has been established at $22,247 using the discounted cash flows valuation method with the following weighted 
average assumptions: 
 

Maturity: 3 years Nominal interest rate: 0% 
Payment frequency: 12 per year   Effective interest rate: 12% 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Corporation entered into two finance lease agreements for the purchase of computer 
equipment. The minimum monthly payments amount to $1,475 for a term of 36 months ending in November and December 2019. 
The fair value of the leases has been established at $44,792 using the discounted cash flows valuation method with the following 
weighted average assumptions: 
 

Maturity: 3 years Nominal interest rate: 0% 
Payment frequency: 12 per year   Effective interest rate: 12% 

 
The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in leases for the years ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017: 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Balance, beginning of year 42,271                    -                            

Finance leases 22,247                    44,792                      

Payments (20,625)                   (3,514)                       

Accretion 4,934                      993                           

Balance, end of year 48,827                    42,271                      

 
The net carrying value of computer and medical equipment under finance leases amounted to $37,672 as at March 31, 2018 
($41,992 as at March 31, 2017).
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15. Share capital 

 

As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, share capital is composed of common shares without par value of which 172,421,265 
(March 31, 2017 – 149,277,729) are issued and outstanding. All the shares have identical rights with respect to the distribution of 
dividends and the repayment of capital. Each share confers the right to one vote at the annual general meeting of shareholders. 
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. 
 
The following table presents the changes to share capital which have occurred during the year ended March 31, 2018: 
 

Number of common 

shares
$

Balance, beginning of year 149,277,729            20,368,019      

Exercice of stock warrants 3,642,539                 235,881            

Conversion of debentures 18,066,664              1,140,000         

Exercice of stock options 1,434,333                 137,266            

Balance, end of year 172,421,265            21,881,166      

 
 
 
The following table presents the changes to share capital which have occurred during the year ended March 31, 2017: 
 

Number of common 

shares
$

Balance, beginning of year 106,163,823                18,163,302       

Private placement of rights 25,005,963                  968,965            

Exercice of stock warrants 9,857,945                    526,477            

Conversion of debentures 8,199,998                    704,275            

Exercice of stock options 50,000                         5,000                

Balance, end of year 149,277,729                20,368,019       

 
Capital management 

The Corporation closely manages its capital structure in conjunction with economic conditions in order to produce adequate returns 
on investments to its Shareholders. The key capital performance measures of the Corporation reside in its capability to meet its 
financial obligations and to invest in the development of its technology to stay competitive and continue as a going concern. 
 
The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are to:  
 

 Maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations; 

 Deploy capital to provide an appropriate investment return to its shareholders; and 

 Maintain a capital structure that allows multiple financing options to the Corporation. 
 
The Corporation defines its capital as follows: 
 

 Equity; 

 Long term loans, notes and debentures; 

 Cash; and 

 Investments. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Corporation may issue shares, issue warrants, issue stock options, issue debt 
and sell assets. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Corporation’s strategy remained unchanged from the previous year. 
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Stock option plan  

The Corporation maintains a stock option plan for its directors, key employees and consultants for which vested options over three 
years can be exercised in order to acquire common shares. Effective July 21, 2017, stock option grants vest at 50% per year, 
commencing with the first anniversary of the grant and can be exercised over five years. Stock options granted before July 21, 
2017 vest at 33.33% per year, commencing with the first anniversary of the grant. The conditions of exercise are determined by the 
Board of Directors in accordance with the rules of the TSX Venture Exchange. The stock options are usually granted at the share 
price at the close of market on the day preceding the date of grant. 
 
The stock option plan provides that the maximum number of common shares, which may be reserved for issuance to any one 
participant pursuant to share options, may not exceed 5% of the common shares outstanding.  The maximum number of common 
shares that may be reserved for issuance to insiders of the Corporation may not exceed 10% of the common shares issued and 
outstanding on the grant date. The maximum number of stock options which the Corporation is authorized to issue is 20,000,000. 
As at March 31, 2018, the outstanding number of stock options available for issuance was 4,452,406 (March 31, 2017 – 
7,682,072). 
  
The following table presents the changes which have occurred for the years ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, with 
respect to stock options. 
 

Year ended Year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Number of Weighted- Number of Weighted- 

stock options average stock options average

exercise price exercise price

($) ($)

Outstanding, beginning of year 10,771,349        0.09 7,814,684           0.12

Granted 4,650,000           0.13 6,280,000           0.08

Exercised (1,434,332)         0.10 (50,000)               0.10

Forfeited (298,333)             0.10 (2,583,335)         0.13

Expired (1,262,000)         0.16 (690,000)             0.28

Outstanding, end of year 12,426,684        0.10 10,771,349        0.09

 
 
The stock-based compensation expense of $171,683 for the year ended March 31, 2018 (year ended March 31, 2017 - $89,472) 
arising from stock options granted to key employees has been amortized according to the graded vesting method and is reported 
under “Selling and administrative” expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The weighted-average fair value of each stock option grant is estimated at $0.07 for the year ended March 31, 2018 
(March 31, 2017 - $0.031) and is calculated using the Black - Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average 
assumptions: 
 

Expected life: 5 years (March 31, 2017 – 5 years) Risk-free interest rate:  1.60% (March 31, 2017 – 1.45%) 
Dividend yield: 0% (March 31, 2017 – 0%) Expected Volatility: 95.77% to 99.41% (March 31, 2017 – 

99.40%) 
Average exercise 

price at date of grant: $0.13 (March 31, 2017 - $0.08) 
Average share price at 

date of grant: $0.13 (March 31, 2017 - $0.08) 
 
The expected volatility was calculated on the Corporation’s share prices over the last 5 years. 
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The following table summarizes information on stock options outstanding as at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017: 
 
 

Options outstanding Options exercisable

as at March 31, 2018 as at March 31, 2018

Exercise 

price

Number of options 

outstanding

Weighted- average 

remaining 

contractual life

Weighted-average 

exercise price

Number of 

options 

exercisable

Weighted-

average 

exercise price

$ (in years) ($) ($)

0.01 - 0.10 7,226,684                  3.0 0.08 3,433,349          0.08

0.11 - 0.20 5,200,000                  4.3 0.13 216,667             0.15

12,426,684                3.5 0.10 3,650,016          0.09

Options outstanding Options exercisable

as at March 31, 2017 as at March 31, 2017

Exercise 

price

Number of options 

outstanding

Weighted- average 

remaining 

contractual life

Weighted-average 

exercise price

Number of 

options 

exercisable

Weighted-

average 

exercise price

$ (in years) ($) ($)

0.01 - 0.10 9,109,349                  3.8 0.08 2,800,120          0.10
0.11 - 0.20 1,662,000                  1.9 0.16 1,162,000          0.16

10,771,349                3.5 0.09 3,962,120          0.12
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16. Reserve 
 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Stock warrants Conversion options Stock options Total 

$

Balance, beginning of year 3,891,631         632,214                          2,341,886           6,865,731           

Private placement 64,696               468,363                          -                       533,059               

Issue expenses (5,157)                (32,684)                           -                       (37,841)                

Stock-based compensation -                      -                                   171,683              171,683               

Balance, end of year 3,951,170         1,067,893                       2,513,569           7,532,632           

Year ended March 31, 2017

Stock warrants Conversion options Stock options Total 

$

Balance, beginning of year 3,743,741         570,772                          2,252,414           6,566,927           

Private placement 94,238               87,234                            -                       181,472               

Issue expenses (2,336)                -                                   -                       (2,336)                  

Loans 55,988               -                                   -                       55,988                 

Reversal to accretion -                      (25,792)                           -                       (25,792)                

Stock-based compensation -                      -                                   89,472                 89,472                 

Balance, end of year 3,891,631         632,214                          2,341,886           6,865,731           

 
Stock warrants 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2017, in connection with the financing described in note 12 above for the same period, the 
Corporation issued 1,000,000 stock warrants entitling the holders to purchase 1,000,000 common shares (each a “Share”) of the 
Corporation at a price of $0.22 per Share for a period of eighteen months. The fair value of the warrants has been established at 
$15,689 as decribed in note 12. 
 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, in connection with the financing described in note 13 above for the same period, the 
Corporation issued 5,220,000 stock warrants entitling the holders to purchase 5,220,000 common shares (each a “Share”) of the 
Corporation at a price of $0.22 per Share for a period of eighteen months. The fair value of the warrants has been established at 
$72,333 as decribed in note 13. 
 
During the quarter ended September 30, 2016, in connection with the financing described in note 13 above, the Corporation issued 
950,000 stock warrants entitling the holders to purchase 950,000 common shares (each a “Share”) of the Corporation at a price of 
$0.06 per Share for a period of twelve months. The fair value of the warrants has been established at $0.01 per warrant using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  
 

Expected life: 1 year Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 116.94% 

 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, in connection with the financing described in note 13 above, the Corporation issued 
4,650,000 stock warrants entitling the holders to purchase 4,650,000 common shares (each a “Share”) of the Corporation at a price 
of $0.06 per Share for a period of twelve months. The fair value of the warrants has been established at $0.018 per warrant using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  
 

Expected life: 1 year Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 105.6% 
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During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, in connection with the financing described in note 11 above, the Corporation issued 
2,750,000 bonus stock warrants entitling the holders to purchase 2,750,000 common shares (each a “Share”) of the Corporation at 
a price of $0.06 and $0.05 per Share for a period of twelve months. The fair value of the warrants has been established at $0.02 
per warrant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  
 

Expected life: 1 year Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 111.36% 

 
During the fourth quarter of the year ended March 31, 2016, in connection with the financing described in note 11 above, the 
Corporation issued 5,332,500 bonus stock warrants entitling the holders to purchase 5,332,500 common shares (each a “Share”) of 
the Corporation at a price of $0.05 per Share for a period of twelve months. The fair value of the Warrants has been established at 
$0.011 per warrant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  
 

Expected life: 1 year Risk-free interest rate: 0.86% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 92.15% 

 
During the second quarter of the year ended March 31, 2016, in connection with a financing, the Corporation issued 415,333 broker 
warrants (each a “Warrant”) as part of a commission arrangement with the brokers involved with the issuance of the Debentures. 
Each Warrant is exercisable for one common share of DIAGNOS (each a “Share”) at a price of $0.15 per Share over a two-year 
period ending July 29, 2017. The Warrants are non-transferable. The fair value of the Warrants has been established at $0.03 per 
unit using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  
 

Expected life: 2 years Risk-free interest rate: 0.80% 
Liquidity discount: 25% Volatility: 107.18% 

 
The following table presents the changes to stock warrants which have occurred during the years ended March 31, 2018 and 
March 31, 2017: 
 

Year ended Year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Number of stock 

warrants

Weighted average 

exercise price ($)

Number of stock 

warrants

Weighted average 

exercise price ($)

Balance, beginning of year 3,907,388           0.07 7,247,833           0.07

Private placement 6,220,000           0.22 5,600,000           0.06

Loans -                       - 2,750,000           0.055

Exercised (3,642,539)         0.06 (9,857,945)         0.053

Expired (264,849)             0.15 (1,832,500)         0.087

Balance, end of year 6,220,000           0.22 3,907,388           0.07
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17. Commitments 
 

The Corporation rents offices in Canada under a lease that expires on September 2019. The Corporation is committed to making 
minimum annual lease payments of $108,324 for the duration of the lease.  
 
The Corporation rents offices in Mexico under a lease that expires on June 2018. The Corporation is committed to making minimum 
annual lease payments of $31,164 for the duration of the lease. 
 
The Corporation rented offices in United Arab Emirates under a lease that expired in September 2017. Minimum lease payments 
recognized as an expense during the period total $4,094 ($18,110 in 2017). 
 
The operating lease expenses for the year ended March 31, 2018 amounted to $147,050 ($156,352 in 2017) and are reported 
under “Selling and administrative” in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The following table summarizes information on commitments as at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017: 
 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

No later than 1 year 139,479                        136,388                  

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 83,264                          86,049                    

222,743                        222,437                  
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18. Financial instruments and risk management 

a) Presentation 

 

As at March 31, 2018

Loans, receivables and other 

liabilities, at amortized cost

Fair value through profit or 

loss
Available for sale Total

Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value

$

Financial assets

Cash 150,291        150,291         150,291         150,291       

Short-term investments 85,984            85,984            85,984            85,984         

Accounts receivable 430,445        430,445         430,445         430,445       

Investments - shares 55,719          55,719             55,719            55,719         

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities 472,364        472,364         472,364         472,364       

Convertible Notes 829,910        829,910         829,910         829,910       

Convertible Debentures 3,635,330     3,635,330      3,635,330      3,635,330   

As at March 31, 2017

Loans, receivables and other 

liabilities, at amortized cost

Fair value through profit or 

loss
Available for sale Total

Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value

$

Financial assets

Cash 189,861        189,861         189,861         189,861       

Short-term investments 84,827            84,827            84,827            84,827         

Accounts receivable 623,711        623,711         623,711         623,711       

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities 621,468        621,468         621,468         621,468       

Loans 683,000        683,000         683,000         683,000       

Convertible Debentures 2,555,663     2,555,663      2,555,663      2,555,663   
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b) Fair value hierarchy 

Financial intruments 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position are classified using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels: 

 Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

 Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);  

 Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).  

 
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is 
classified at the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. 
 
The following tables present the financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position 
classified using the fair value hierarchy described above: 
 

As at March 31, 2018

        Total financial assets

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

$

Financial assets

Short-term investments 85,984       -                 -              85,984           

Investments – shares 55,719       -                 -              55,719           

Total financial assets 141,703     -                 -              141,703         

        Total financial liabilities

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

$

Financial liabilities

Convertible notes -              829,910        -              829,910         

Convertible debentures -              3,635,330     -              3,635,330      

Total financial liabilities -              4,465,240     -              4,465,240      

 
During the period, there has been no transfer of amounts between Level 1 and Level 2. 
 

As at March 31, 2017

        Total financial assets

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

$

Financial assets

Short-term investments 84,827         -              -                 84,827         

Total financial assets 84,827         -              -                 84,827         

        Total financial liabilities

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

$

Financial liabilities

Loans -              683,000      -                 683,000       

Convertible debentures -              2,555,663   -                 2,555,663    

Total financial liabilities -              3,238,663   -                 3,238,663    
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The Corporation has determined that the fair value of its current financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost 
approximate their carrying amounts as at the balance sheet dates because of their short-term maturity. 

The fair value of short-term investments was based on quoted prices in active markets. 

The fair value of loans, convertible notes and convertible debentures was estimated by discounting expected cash flows at rates 
offered to the Corporation for debts of the same remaining maturities and conditions. 

Non-financial intruments 
The fair value of leases was $48,827 as at March 31, 2018 ($42,271 as at March 31, 2017) and estimated by discounting expected 
cash flows at rates currently offered to the Corporation for debts of the same remaining maturities and conditions.  

 

c) Risks 
 

The Corporation is exposed to certain risks which could have a material impact on its ability to achieve its strategic growth 
objectives. The Corporation strives to control and mitigate its business and financial risks through management practices that 
require the ongoing evaluation, identification and implementation of risk mitigating measures that help reduce or eliminate risks 
related to its business operations. 
 
The following describes the Corporation’s main financial risks: 
 

i. Credit Risks 

In the normal course of business, the Corporation's exposure to credit risk results from the possibility that a customer or financial 
institution may default, in part or in whole, on their financial obligations, as they come due.  

Cash and short-term investments  

Cash as well as short-term investments are mainly risk-free or low-risk investments, such as cash and guaranteed term deposits 
held by recognized financial institutions. None of these short-term investments consist of asset-backed commercial paper. 
Consequently, management considers the credit risk related to cash and short-term investments to be low as at March 31, 2018 
and March 31, 2017. 

Customers and demand loans 

In the normal course of business, the Corporation grants credit terms to its customers. The Corporation reviews and, if required, 
establishes allowances for doubtful accounts on a regular basis. For other accounts receivable including demand loan, the 
Corporation determines, on a continuing basis, the probable losses and establishes a provision to account for such losses based 
on the estimated realizable value.  

As at March 31, 2018, 82% of accounts receivable from customers was attributable to one customer active in the healthcare 
industry (78% as at March 31, 2017). It should be noted that given the specialization of the Corporation’s market niche, it is most 
likely that such concentration risk is expected to continue. However, from one year to the next, it is rare that the same customers 
make up this concentration. Despite the concentration of its customers, the credit risk is mitigated through monitoring of its 
customers and the additional measures available to the Corporation, as previously described. 

Additionally, as at March 31, 2018: 

 1% of the net accounts receivable are over 90 days old (8% as at March 31, 2017); 

 accounts receivable from customers exceeding the normal payment terms of 30 days for which no allowance was applied 
represented 92% of the net accounts receivable from customers (62% as at March 31, 2017). 

Management is reasonnably assured that its receivables will be collected, and therefore considers the credit risk related to 
accounts receivable to be low as at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017. 



DIAGNOS Inc. 
 

 

59 

 

ii. Liquidity Risks 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation cannot meet its obligations as they come due. On an ongoing basis, the Company 
monitors and manages its actual and projected cash flows, with the primary objectives of maintaining liquidity and financial 
flexibility. In addition, the Corporation’s policy is to target contracts that will generate positive cash flows throughout their execution.  

As at March 31, 2018, accounts payable, loans, convertible notes, convertible debentures and leases that were due in the next 12 
months totalled $1,012,848 including non-financial instruments (March 31, 2017 - $2,640,298). Considering the available liquidities 
to meet its obligations, the Corporation's exposure to liquidity risk as at March 31, 2018 is low (March 31, 2017 - high) and is 
dependant on the Corporation's ability in securing additional financing and achieving and maintaining profitable operations. Refer to 
going concern assumptions in note 1. 

The following are the contractual maturities of liabilities and commitments as at the end of the reporting date: 

As at March 31, 2018

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Overs

one year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities 472,364                 -                         -                         -                         

Convertible notes 100,000                 100,000                 1,100,000              -                         

Convertible debentures 414,000                 1,867,500              2,740,142              -                         

Leases 26,484                   22,970                   5,859                     -                         

1,012,848              1,990,470              3,846,001              -                         

As at March 31, 2017

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Overs

one year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities 621,468                 -                         -                         -                         

Loans 683,000                 -                         -                         -                         

Convertible debentures 1,318,135              153,000                 1,606,500              -                         

Leases 17,695                   17,695                   14,181                   -                         

2,640,298              170,695                 1,620,681              -                         

 

iii. Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the adverse consequences of interest rate changes on the Corporation’s cash flows, financial pos ition 
and income. Interest rate changes directly impact the fair value of the fixed interest rate accounts of the financial statements.  

The Corporation is not exposed to interest risk since its financial instruments bear interest at fixed rate and are presented at 
amortized cost. 

iv. Market Risk 

Market risk refers to the adverse consequences of stock price changes on the Corporation’s investments in shares. Investments in 
shares are currently mainly composed of shares of corporations traded on the TSX Venture Exchange. As at March 31, 2018, 
considering the value of investments in shares of $55,719 (March 31, 2017 – nil), a change of 50% in the market value of these 
shares would not have a significant impact on the Corporation’s expenses. 
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v. Exchange Rate Fluctuations Risk 

Exchange rate fluctuations risk refers to the adverse consequences of exchange rate changes on the Corporation’s cash flows, 
financial position and income. During the period, revenues and expenses arose from transactions occuring in Canadian dollars and 
other currencies.  

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the currency rates of five currencies (USD, MXN, INR, PLN, AED). Movements in 
foreign currencies against the Canadian dollar may impact revenues, the nominal amount of certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities, and negatively affect the Company’s profit or loss. 

As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, the following balances presented within the statement of financial position are 
denominated in a currency different from the functional currency used in each entities of the group and, as such, are exposed to 
exchange rate flutuation risk: 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Amounts in CAD

Bank account - USD 1,367                       2,236                      

Bank account - AED 1,488                       4,747                      

Accounts receivable - AED 5,963                       16,400                    

Accounts receivable - USD 53,037                     -                          

Accounts payable - AED (2,408)                     (8,614)                     

Accounts payable - USD (53,341)                   (2,456)                     

6,106                       12,313                    

Assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 10% increase or decrease in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar, against 
other currencies, would not have have a significant impact on the Corporation’s net loss for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 
2017.  
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19. Expenses by nature 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Depreciation and amortization 230,190             192,649             

Audit 72,270               60,092               

Bad debt 6,191                  21,608               

Communications 56,682               58,547               

Consulting fees 460,984             657,871             

Equipment 20,526               106,142             

Foreign exchange 101,331             144,285             

Leasing 147,559             160,758             

Legal fees 43,777               103,521             

Gain on disposal of investments -                      (72,550)              

Gain on receivables payable in shares -                      (34,000)              

Marketing 85,874               146,857             

Overhead 226,103             162,732             

Remuneration 2,393,129          2,216,775          

Subcontracting -                      236,741             

Tax credits (99,208)              (101,470)            

Travel and living 334,001             303,658             

4,079,409          4,364,216          

 
Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Interest on debentures 740,096              664,543              

Interest on notes 80,963                -                      

Interest on short term loans 4,504                  267,195              

Other interest expense 2,208                  23,642                

827,771              955,380              
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20. Income taxes 

As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, income taxes recoverable are composed essentially of non-capital losses. Based on 
available information, it is not probable that income taxes recoverable on these amounts will be realized in the near future, 
therefore, no deferred tax asset was recorded in these consolidated financial statements. 

Provision for income taxes: 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Provision for income taxes -                       -                   

Provision for deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes arising from the reversal 

of temporary differences (471,638)              (1,263,917)       

Impact of the changes in deferred income tax rates 87,375                 3,460               

Un-recognized deferred tax assets on deductible temporary

differences, tax credits and deferred tax losses 192,072               1,260,457        

(192,191)              -                   

Provision for income taxes (192,191)              -                   
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Reconciliation of tax rates : 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Canada Mexico
Others and 

consolidation
Total

$

Net loss before income taxes (2,404,807)         (643,821)             (40,728)               (3,089,356)     

Statutory federal and provincial tax rates 26.73% 30.00% 26.73% 27.41%

Provision for income taxes calculated at statutory tax rates (642,805)             (193,146)             (10,887)               (846,838)        

Impacts of the following items:

Non-deductible items 109,786              22,833                -                       132,619          

Changes to income tax rates on deferred items 87,375                -                       -                       87,375            

Impact of foreign exchange conversion of subsidiaries -                       414                      -                       414                  

Un-recognized deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences,

tax credits and deferred tax losses 253,453              207,298              10,887                471,638          

Others -                       (37,399)               -                       (37,399)           

(192,191)             -                       -                       (192,191)        

 

Year ended March 31, 2017

Canada Mexico
Others and 

consolidation
Total

$

Net loss before income taxes (2,455,528)             (403,271)             (70,746)               (2,929,545)     

Statutory federal and provincial tax rates 26.88% 30.00% 26.88% 26.88%

Provision for income taxes calculated at statutory tax rates (659,932)                 (120,981)             (19,013)               (787,326)        

Impacts of the following items:

Non-deductible expenses 24,050                    18,592                -                       42,642            

Changes to income tax rates on deferred income 3,460                       -                       -                       3,460              

Impact of foreign jurisdiction tax rates -                           -                       -                       (12,600)           

Impact of foreign exchange conversion of subsidiaries -                           2,483                   -                       2,483              

Un-recognized deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences,

tax credits and deferred tax losses 509,453                  85,012                -                       594,465          

Others 122,969                  14,894                19,013                156,876          

-                           -                       -                       -                   
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
Changes to deferred tax assets (liabilities) related to temporary differences and unused tax losses are as follows: 
 

As at March 31,

Equity
Recognized in net 

earnings
2018 2017

$

Non capital losses -                       177,659               177,659               -                   

Convertible debentures (138,953)              6,368                   (132,585)              -                   

Convertible notes (53,238)                8,164                   (45,074)                -                   

(192,191)              192,191               -                       -                   

 
 

Timing differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax has been recognized are as follow: 
 

As at March 31,

2018 2017

Canada Mexico Canada Mexico

Operating losses carried forward 14,491,428        934,688         15,645,995         295,561              

SR&ED expenditures 5,505,481          -                 5,196,286           -                      

Capital assets and intangible assets 347,855             -                 571,524              -                      

Issue expenses 366,824             -                 -                      -                      

Non-deductible provision -                     -                 -                      19,150                

20,711,588        934,688         21,413,805         314,711              
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Operating losses carried forward: 

As at March 31, 2018, the Corporation had operating tax losses available in Canada and Mexico for which no deferred assets were accounted for. The following table 
summarizes the expiry of the losses per fiscal jurisdiction: 

Canada Mexico Total

$

2026 -                              42,317                        42,317                       

2027 -                              263,406                      263,406                     

2028 -                              628,966                      628,966                     

2029 1,195,772                   -                              1,195,772                  

2030 1,557,531                   -                              1,557,531                  

2031 854,384                      -                              854,384                     

2032 1,491,339                   -                              1,491,339                  

2033 1,314,805                   -                              1,314,805                  

2034 850,751                      -                              850,751                     

2035 1,958,526                   -                              1,958,526                  

2036 1,972,657                   -                              1,972,657                  

2037 1,496,272                   -                              1,496,272                  

2038 1,799,391                   -                              1,799,391                  

14,491,428                 934,689                      15,426,117                

 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company also has investment tax credit of $1,760,351 (March 31, 2017 -$1,683,281) available to offset future Canadian federal income taxes 
payable. The potential benefit of the investment tax credits has not been recognized in the accounts.  
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21. Net change in operating working capital items  

 
The changes in working capital items are as follows: 
 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Increase in accounts receivable, net of payment in shares (19,149)                    (521,172)          

Gain on receivables payable in shares -                            34,000             

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (7,077)                       32,068             

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (319,411)                  592,001           

Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 23,693                      (91,883)            

(321,944)                  45,014             

 
22. Segment information 

 
The Corporation is active in the Healthcare sector. It provides image analysis services through CARA (Computer Assisted Retinal 
Analysis), a software tool which assists health specialists in the detection of diabetic retinopathy. 

Up to May 25, 2017, the Corporation was also active in the natural resources sector (see note 25). 
 

93% of revenues earned from the healthcare sector for the year ended March 31, 2018 were attributable to one governmental 

organization (March 31, 2017 - 74%). 

 

Revenue by geographic area presented on the basis of the country of contract signature: 

 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Mexico 1,171,037           1,330,457           

Canada 373,723               586,541               

United Arab Emirates 24,275                 56,200                 

United States of America 21,748                 2,625                   

Saoudi Arabia 8,301                   -                        

Bangladesh 5,754                   -                        

Slovakia 5,373                   -                        

Poland 1,985                   3,060                   

Nigeria 625                       58,753                 

India -                        142,809               

Kenya -                        59,345                 

Colombia -                        55,781                 

Turkey -                        47,524                 

Malaysia -                        46,956                 

1,612,821           2,390,051           
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As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, capital and intangible assets are located in Mexico and Canada: 
 

As at March 31,

2018 2017

$

Mexico 202,351               114,206               

Canada 55,142                 102,529               

257,493               216,735               

  
 
23. Related party transactions 

The Corporation’s related parties include its subsidiaries and associate entity as well as the Corporation’s key management 
personnel. Key management personnel include directors and officers.  

The following table presents the transactions with key management personnel during the years ended March 31, 2018 and 
March 31, 2017: 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Base salary 512,500                559,438                

Stock-based compensation 139,928                83,972                  

Incentives 150,000                40,000                  

Sales commissions 111,972                79,495                  

Interest on demand loan 1,940                    -                        

Payment of interest on demand loan (1,940)                   -                        

914,400                762,905                

 
 
During the quarter ended September 30, 2017, the Corporation advanced $40,000, no interest bearing, to an officer which will be 
repaid against sales commissions. 

As at March 31, 2017, an amount receivable from an associate of $21,608, for which collection is unsure, was added to the 
allowance for doubtful accounts.  

The following table present the outstanding balances with key management personnel 

As at

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

$

Demand loan receivable, annual interest rate of 4% 46,749                         43,500                        

Cash advance, no interest 21,558                         -                             

Convertible debentures, annual nominal interest rate of 10% (30,000)                        (500,000)                    

Convertible notes, annual nominal interest rate of 10% (500,000)                      -                             
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The outstanding balances with key management personnel varied as follows: 

 

Year ended March 31, 2018

Demand loan 

receivable, annual 

interest of 4%

Sales commissions 

advance, no interest

Convertible 

debentures, annual 

interest of 10%

Convertible 

notes, annual 

interest of 10%

$

Balance, beginning of year 43,500                    -                              (500,000)                    -                    

Capitalization of interests 3,249                      -                              -                             -                    

Loan -                          40,000                        -                             -                    

Repayment -                          (18,442)                       -                             -                    

Departure of one director -                          -                              500,000                     -                    

Private placement -                          -                              (30,000)                      (500,000)           

Balance, end of year 46,749                    21,558                        (30,000)                      (500,000)           

 
 
24. Subsequent events 
 

On April 4, 2018, the Corporation received $421,084 related to the disposal of the 10,500,000 shares of Albert Mining Inc. 

On July 5, 2018, the Corporation announced the closing of a non-brokered private placement (“Private Placement”) initially 
announced on May 28, 2018 and June 14, 2018 of 16 units (each a “Unit”), for an aggregate value of $800,000. 
 
 
25. Discontinued operations 

 

As part of the May 25, 2017 sale of the assets of the mining division to Majescor Resources Inc. (now Albert Mining Inc.), the 
Corporation’s operations related to the mining division were identified as discontinued operations.  

The impact on the statements of cash flows is as follows: 

Year ended March 31,

2018 2017

$

Net cash flows from operating activities 247,829                   (95,074)                    

Net cash flow from investing activities -                           (20,992)                    

Net cash flows from financing activities -                           320,942                   

247,829                   204,876                   

 

The Corporation received 8,000,000 common shares of Majescor Resources Inc. (now Albert Mining Inc.) valued at $0.08 per 
share for an aggregate purchase price of $640,000 in payment for all of the assets of the mining division. The carrying amount of 
these assets was $16,081. 
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26. Restatement of previously issued financial statements 
 

After the initial release of the March 31, 2017 consolidated financial statements on June 20, 2017, the Corporation determined that 
the conversion options embedded in the secured convertible debentures and the stock warrants issued during the fiscal years 
ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017 should have been classified as equity upon recognition. The impacts of such 
adjustments for the year ended March 31, 2017 were reflected in the amended consolidated financial statements dated August 29, 
2017. The Corporation previously reported a comprehensive loss of $5,306,378 and a basic diluted comprehensive loss per share 
of $0.04 for the year ended March 31, 2017. The restatement resulted in a comprehensive loss of $2,815,282 and a basic diluted 
comprehensive loss per share of $0.02. The variance in comprehensive loss of $2,491,096 is detailed as follows: 
 

Year ended March 31, 2017

$

Reversal of change in fair values of conversion options (2,195,109)                                       

Reversal of change in fair values of warrants (84,133)                                            

Adjustment to interest expense (211,854)                                          

(2,491,096)                                       

 

The prior period adjustments had no impact on the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended 
March 31, 2016. 
 

The prior period adjustments had the following impacts on the consolidated statements of financial position for the years ended 
March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016. 

As at March 31, 2017

Loans
Convertible 

Debentures
Reserve Deficit

$

As previously reported 767,443            5,132,123          6,695,924    (32,704,943)     

Reclassification of 2016 conversion options to equity -                    -                     546,450       (546,450)          

Reversal of warrants derivatives (84,443)             (151,460)            150,226       85,677             

Reversal of conversion options derivatives -                    (2,425,000)         87,234         2,337,766        

Reversal of fair value of conversion options upon conversion -                    -                     (615,647)      615,647           

Other -                    -                     1,544           (1,544)              

Restated balance 683,000            2,555,663          6,865,731    (30,213,847)     

As at March 31, 2016

Convertible 

Debentures
Reserve

$

As previously reported 2,436,297          6,020,477    

Reclassification of conversion options to equity (546,450)            546,450       

Restated balance 1,889,847          6,566,927    
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